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INTRODUCTION
In this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, or Quarterly Report, unless otherwise indicated or the context otherwise requires, (1) the terms “we,” “us,”
“our,” “the Company” and “Intelsat” refer to Intelsat S.A., and its subsidiaries on a consolidated basis, (2) the term “Intelsat Holdings” refers to our indirect
wholly-owned subsidiary, Intelsat Holdings S.A., (3) the term “Intelsat Investments” refers to Intelsat Investments S.A., Intelsat Holdings’ direct whollyowned subsidiary, (4) the term “Intelsat Luxembourg” refers to Intelsat (Luxembourg) S.A., Intelsat Investments’ direct wholly-owned subsidiary, (5) the
term "Intelsat Envision" refers to Intelsat Envision Holdings LLC, Intelsat Luxembourg's direct wholly-owned subsidiary, (6) the terms “Intelsat Connect”
and “ICF” refer to Intelsat Connect Finance S.A., Intelsat Envision’s direct wholly-owned subsidiary, and (7) the term “Intelsat Jackson” refers to Intelsat
Jackson Holdings S.A., Intelsat Connect’s direct wholly-owned subsidiary. In this Quarterly Report, unless the context otherwise requires, all references to
transponder capacity or demand refer to transponder capacity or demand in the C-band and Ku-band frequencies only.
The Company is relying on the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission’s (the “SEC”) March 25, 2020 Order pursuant to Section 36 of the
Exchange Act (Release No. 34-88465) (the “Order”) in delaying the filing of this Quarterly Report for the three months ended March 31, 2020, due to
circumstances related to the novel coronavirus (“COVID-19”) pandemic. In particular, COVID-19 has caused limited access to the Company’s facilities
and disrupted its normal interactions with its accounting personnel, legal advisors, auditors and others involved in the preparation of this Quarterly Report.
The filing of this Quarterly Report on the date hereof will be considered a timely filing under the Order.
FINANCIAL AND OTHER INFORMATION
Unless otherwise indicated, all references to “dollars” and “$” in this Quarterly Report are to, and all monetary amounts in this Quarterly Report are
presented in, U.S. dollars. Unless otherwise indicated, the financial information contained in this Quarterly Report has been prepared in accordance with
United States generally accepted accounting principles (“U.S. GAAP”).
Certain monetary amounts, percentages and other figures included in this Quarterly Report have been subject to rounding adjustments. Accordingly,
figures shown as totals in certain tables may not be the arithmetic aggregation of the figures that precede them, and figures expressed as percentages in the
text may not total 100% or, as applicable, when aggregated may not be the arithmetic aggregation of the percentages that precede them.
In this Quarterly Report, we refer to and rely on publicly available information regarding our industry and our competitors. Although we believe the
information is reliable, we cannot guarantee the accuracy and completeness of the information and have not independently verified it.
FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS
Some of the statements in this Quarterly Report and oral statements made from time to time by our representatives constitute forward-looking
statements that do not directly or exclusively relate to historical facts. The Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995 provides a “safe harbor” for
certain forward-looking statements as long as they are identified as forward-looking and are accompanied by meaningful cautionary statements identifying
important factors that could cause actual results to differ materially from the expectations expressed or implied in the forward-looking statements.
When used in this Quarterly Report, the words “may,” “will,” “ might,” “should,” “expect,” “plan,” “anticipate,” “project,” “believe,” “estimate,”
“predict,” “intend,” “potential,” “outlook” and “continue,” and the negative of these terms, and other similar expressions are intended to identify forwardlooking statements and information. Examples of these forward-looking statements include, but are not limited to, statements regarding the following: our
belief that the growing worldwide demand for reliable broadband connectivity everywhere at all times, together with our leadership position in our
attractive sector, global scale, efficient operating and financial profile, diversified customer sets and sizeable contracted backlog, provide us with a platform
for long-term success; our ability to obtain Bankruptcy Court (as defined below) approval with respect to motions or other requests made to the Bankruptcy
Court; our ability to confirm and consummate a plan of reorganization; the effects of the Chapter 11 Cases (as defined below) on our liquidity or results of
operations or business prospects; the effects of the Chapter 11 Cases on our business and the interests of various constituents; the length of time that we
will operate under Chapter 11 protection; risks associated with third-party motions in the Chapter 11 Cases; our belief that the new and differentiated
capacity of our next generation Intelsat Epic satellites will provide inventory to help offset recent trends of pricing pressure, new capacity from other
satellite operators, and improved access to fiber links in our network services business; our outlook that the increased volume of services provided by our
Intelsat Epic fleet is expected to stabilize the level of business activity in the network services sector; our expectation that over time incremental demand
for capacity to support the new 4K format, also known as ultra-high definition, could offset some of the reductions in demand related to use of new
compression technologies in our media business; our expectation that our new services and technologies will open new sectors that are much larger and
faster growing than those we support today; our belief that selectively investing, employing a
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disciplined yield management approach, and emphasizing the development of strong distribution channels for our four primary customer sets will drive
stability in our core business; our expectation that developing and scaling our differentiated managed service offerings in targeted verticals, leveraging the
global footprint, higher performance and better economics of our Intelsat Epic fleet, in addition to the flexibility of our innovative terrestrial network, will
drive revenue growth; our belief that completing targeted investments and partnerships in differentiated space and ground infrastructure will provide a
seamless interface with the broader telecommunications ecosystem; our ability to incorporate new technologies into our network that could change the
types of applications we can serve and increase our share of the global demand for broadband connectivity; our projection that our government business
will benefit from the increasing demands for mobility services from the U.S. government for aeronautical and ground mobile requirements; our intention to
maximize the value of our spectrum rights; our expectations as to our ability to comply with the final U.S. Federal Communications Commission (“FCC”)
order regarding clearing C-band spectrum in North America, including the availability of adequate resources and funds required to comply and the receipt
of accelerated clearing payments set forth in the FCC order; our belief that developing differentiated services and investing in related software- and
standards-based technology will allow us to unlock opportunities that are essential to providing global broadband connectivity; the trends that we believe
will impact our revenue and operating expenses in the future; our assessments regarding how long satellites that have experienced anomalies in the past
should be able to provide service on their transponders; our belief as to the likelihood of the cause of the failure of Intelsat 29e occurring on our other
satellites; our assessment of the risks of future anomalies occurring on our satellites; our plans for satellite launches in the near-term; our expected capital
expenditures in 2020 and during the next several years; our belief that the diversity of our revenue allows us to benefit from changing market conditions
and lowers our risk from revenue fluctuations in our service applications and geographic regions; our belief that the scale of our fleet can reduce the
financial impact of any satellite anomalies or launch failures and protect against service interruptions; and the impact on our financial position or results of
operations of pending legal proceedings.
Forward-looking statements reflect our intentions, plans, expectations, anticipations, projections, estimations, predictions, outlook, assumptions and
beliefs about future events. These forward-looking statements speak only as of their dates and are not guarantees of future performance or results and are
subject to risks, uncertainties and other factors, many of which are outside of our control. These factors could cause actual results or developments to differ
materially from the expectations expressed or implied in the forward-looking statements and include known and unknown risks. Known risks include,
among others, the risks discussed in Part I—Item 1A—Risk Factors in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2019, the
political, economic, regulatory and legal conditions in the markets we are targeting for communications services or in which we operate and other risks and
uncertainties inherent in the telecommunications business in general and the satellite communications business in particular.
Other factors that may cause results or developments to differ materially from historical results or developments or the forward-looking statements
made in this Quarterly Report include, but are not limited to:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

risks associated with operating our in-orbit satellites;
satellite launch failures, satellite launch and construction delays and in-orbit failures or reduced satellite performance;
potential changes in the number of companies offering commercial satellite launch services and the number of commercial satellite launch
opportunities available in any given time period that could impact our ability to timely schedule future launches and the prices we pay for such
launches;
our ability to obtain new satellite insurance policies with financially viable insurance carriers on commercially reasonable terms or at all, as well
as the ability of our insurance carriers to fulfill their obligations;
possible future losses on satellites that are not adequately covered by insurance;
U.S. and other government regulation;
changes in our contracted backlog or expected contracted backlog for future services;
pricing pressure and overcapacity in the markets in which we compete;
our ability to access capital markets for debt or equity;
the competitive environment in which we operate;
customer defaults on their obligations to us;
our international operations and other uncertainties associated with doing business internationally;
the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on our business, the economic environment and our expected financial results;
risks and uncertainties regarding the Company and certain of its subsidiaries’ voluntary commencement of cases under Chapter 11 (the “Chapter
11 Cases”) of the United States Bankruptcy Code in the United States Bankruptcy Court for the Eastern District of Virginia (the “Bankruptcy
Court”);
the conditions to which our debtor-in-possession financing is subject to and the risk that these conditions may not be satisfied for various reasons,
including for reasons outside of our control;
litigation; and
other risks discussed in our Annual Report or this Quarterly Report.

Although we believe that the expectations reflected in the forward-looking statements are reasonable, we cannot guarantee our future results, level of
activity, performance or achievements. Because actual results could differ materially from our intentions, plans, expectations, anticipations, projections,
estimations, predictions, outlook, assumptions and beliefs about the future, you are urged not to rely on forward-looking statements in this Quarterly Report
and to view all forward-looking statements made in this Quarterly
4

Report with caution. We do not undertake any obligation to update or revise any forward-looking statements, whether as a result of new information, future
events or otherwise.
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PART I. FINANCIAL INFORMATION
Item 1. Financial Statements
INTELSAT S.A.
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(in thousands, except per share amounts)
December 31, 2019

March 31, 2020
(unaudited)

ASSETS
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents

$

Restricted cash
Receivables, net of allowances of $40,028 in 2019 and $51,061 in 2020

810,626

$

782,522

20,238

18,100

255,722

234,517

Contract assets

47,721

37,363

Prepaid expenses and other current assets

39,230

46,723

1,173,537

1,119,225

Satellites and other property and equipment, net

4,702,063

4,616,207

Goodwill

2,620,627

2,620,627

Non-amortizable intangible assets

2,452,900

2,440,700

Amortizable intangible assets, net

276,752

268,976

74,109

63,716

Total current assets

Contract assets, net of current portion
Other assets

504,394

Total assets

566,223

$

11,804,382

$

11,695,674

$

88,107

$

160,577

LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS’ DEFICIT
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities
Taxes payable
Employee related liabilities
Accrued interest payable

10,996

44,648

27,905

308,657

307,899

—

14,476,612

Current portion of long-term debt
Contract liabilities

6,402

137,706

139,257

Deferred satellite performance incentives

42,835

43,387

Other current liabilities

62,446

66,308

Total current liabilities
Long-term debt
Contract liabilities, net of current portion
Deferred satellite performance incentives, net of current portion

690,801

15,232,941

14,465,483

—

1,113,450

1,105,051

175,837

167,479

55,171

59,937

Deferred income taxes
Accrued retirement benefits, net of current portion

125,511

121,611

Other long-term liabilities

166,977

216,884

Shareholders’ deficit:
Common shares; nominal value $0.01 per share
Paid-in capital
Accumulated deficit
Accumulated other comprehensive loss
Total Intelsat S.A. shareholders’ deficit

1,411

1,421

2,565,696

2,566,667

(7,503,830)

(7,723,517)

(63,135)

(62,487)

(4,999,858)

(5,217,916)

Noncontrolling interest

11,010

Total liabilities and shareholders’ deficit

$

11,804,382

See accompanying notes to unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements.
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9,687
$

11,695,674

INTELSAT S.A.
UNAUDITED CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
(in thousands, except per share amounts)
Three Months Ended
March 31, 2019

Revenue

$

528,449

Three Months Ended
March 31, 2020

$

458,820

Operating expenses:
Direct costs of revenue (excluding depreciation and amortization)

105,405

Selling, general and administrative
Depreciation and amortization
Impairment of non-amortizable intangible assets
Total operating expenses

105,085

51,658

80,967

171,094

163,048

—

12,200

328,157

361,300

Income from operations

200,292

97,520

Interest expense, net

316,602

318,329

1,413

2,735

(114,897)

(218,074)

5,145

141

(120,042)

(218,215)

Other income, net
Loss before income taxes
Provision for income taxes
Net loss
Net income attributable to noncontrolling interest

(580)

Net loss attributable to Intelsat S.A.

(556)

$

(120,622)

$

(218,771)

Basic

$

(0.87)

$

(1.55)

Diluted

$

(0.87)

$

(1.55)

Net loss per common share attributable to Intelsat S.A.:

See accompanying notes to unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements.
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INTELSAT S.A.
UNAUDITED CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE LOSS
(in thousands)
Three Months Ended
March 31, 2019

Net loss

$

(120,042)

Three Months Ended
March 31, 2020

$

(218,215)

Other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax:
Defined benefit retirement plans:
Reclassification adjustment for amortization of unrecognized prior service credits, net of tax
included in other income, net
Reclassification adjustment for amortization of unrecognized actuarial loss, net of tax included
in other income, net
Adoption of ASU 2018-02 (see Note 13—Income Taxes)

$

1,274
—
648

(136,123)

(217,567)

(580)

(556)

(136,703)

See accompanying notes to unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements.
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736
(16,081)

Comprehensive income attributable to noncontrolling interest
Comprehensive loss attributable to Intelsat S.A.

(626)

(16,191)

Other comprehensive income (loss)
Comprehensive loss

(626)

$

(218,123)

INTELSAT S.A.
UNAUDITED CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN SHAREHOLDERS’ DEFICIT
(in thousands, except where otherwise noted)
Common
Shares
(in millions)

Balance at December 31, 2018

138.0

Paid-in
Capital

Amount

$

1,380

$

Accumulated
Deficit

2,551,471

$

(6,606,426)

Accumulated Other
Comprehensive
Loss

$

(43,430)

Total Intelsat S.A.
Shareholders’
Deficit

$

(4,097,005)

Noncontrolling
Interest

$

14,396

Net income (loss)

—

—

—

(120,622)

—

(120,622)

580

Dividends paid to noncontrolling
interests

—

—

—

—

—

—

(1,925)

Share-based compensation

2.6

26

2,913

—

—

2,939

—

—

—

—

—

110

110

—

Postretirement/pension liability
adjustment, net of tax
Adoption of ASU 2018-02 (see Note
12—Income Taxes)

—
140.6

Balance at March 31, 2019

—
$

1,406

—
$

2,554,384

16,191
$

(6,710,857)

(16,191)
$

(59,511)

—
$

(4,214,578)

—
$

13,051

Common
Shares
(in millions)

Balance at December 31, 2019

141.1

Net income (loss)

Amount

$

1,411

—

—

Dividends paid to noncontrolling
interests

—

Share-based compensation

1.0

Postretirement/pension liability
adjustment, net of tax
Adoption of ASU 2016-13 (see Note
1—General)
Balance at March 31, 2020

Paid-in
Capital

$

Accumulated
Other
Comprehensive
Loss

Accumulated
Deficit

2,565,696

$

(7,503,830)

$

(63,135)

—

(218,771)

—

—

—

—

10

971

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

142.1

$

1,421

$

2,566,667

$

$

(4,999,858)

Noncontrolling
Interest

$

11,010

(218,771)

556

—

—

(1,879)

—

981

—

—

648

648

—

(916)

—

(916)

—

(7,723,517)

$

(62,487)

See accompanying notes to unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements.
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Total Intelsat S.A.
Shareholders’
Deficit

$

(5,217,916)

$

9,687

INTELSAT S.A.
UNAUDITED CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(in thousands)
Three Months Ended
March 31, 2019

Three Months Ended
March 31, 2020

Cash flows from operating activities:
Net loss

$

(120,042)

$

(218,215)

Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash provided by operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization
Provision for doubtful accounts
Foreign currency transaction loss

171,094

163,048

411

19,944

1,030

6,380

Loss on disposal of assets

40

—

Impairment of non-amortizable intangible assets

—

12,200

2,707

3,706

Share-based compensation
Deferred income taxes
Amortization of discount, premium, issuance costs and related costs
Amortization of actuarial loss and prior service credits for retirement benefits
Unrealized losses on derivative financial instruments
Unrealized (gains) losses on investments and loans held-for-investment
Sales-type lease
Other non-cash items

2,029

2,181

10,049

11,196

112

659

9,526

335

(595)

8

6,913

—

(108)

—

Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Receivables
Prepaid expenses, contract and other assets
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities

29,396

(939)

(22,826)

19,510

2,106

14,743

Accrued interest payable

33,007

(757)

Deferred revenue and contract liabilities

(8,300)

(6,916)

Accrued retirement benefits

(3,115)

(3,900)

3,900

(8,906)

117,334

14,277

Payments for satellites and other property and equipment (including capitalized interest)

(93,297)

(38,026)

Origination of loans held-for-investment

(10,000)

(1,150)

—

724

Other long-term liabilities
Net cash provided by operating activities
Cash flows from investing activities:

Proceeds from loans held-for-investment
Capital contribution to unconsolidated affiliate (including capitalized interest)

(338)

—

—

5,625

(103,635)

(32,827)

Principal payments on deferred satellite performance incentives

(7,259)

(7,806)

Dividends paid to noncontrolling interest

(1,925)

(1,879)

Proceeds from exercise of employee stock options

232

—

Other financing activities

297

—

(8,655)

(9,685)

(443)

(2,007)

Other proceeds from satellites
Net cash used in investing activities
Cash flows from financing activities:

Net cash used in financing activities
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash
Net change in cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash
Cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash, beginning of period
Cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash, end of period

4,601

(30,242)

507,157

830,864

$

511,758

$

800,622

$

238,407

$

282,895

Supplemental cash flow information:
Interest paid, net of amounts capitalized
Income taxes paid, net of refunds

964

1,936

Supplemental disclosure of non-cash investing activities:
Accrued capital expenditures

$

See accompanying notes to unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements.
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8,595

$

48,255

INTELSAT S.A.
NOTES TO THE CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (UNAUDITED)
March 31, 2020
Note 1 General
Basis of Presentation
The accompanying condensed consolidated financial statements of Intelsat S.A. and its subsidiaries (“Intelsat S.A.,” “we,” “us,” “our” or the
“Company”) have not been audited, but are prepared in accordance with United States generally accepted accounting principles (“U.S. GAAP”) for interim
financial information. Accordingly, they do not include all of the information and footnotes required by U.S. GAAP for complete financial statements.
References to U.S. GAAP issued by the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) in these footnotes are to the FASB Accounting Standards
Codification (“ASC”). The unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements include all adjustments (consisting only of normal and recurring
adjustments) that are, in the opinion of management, necessary for a fair presentation of these financial statements. The results of operations for the periods
presented are not necessarily indicative of operating results for the full year or for any future period. These unaudited condensed consolidated financial
statements should be read in conjunction with the consolidated financial statements and notes thereto included in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the
year ended December 31, 2019, on file with the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission ("SEC").
Use of Estimates
The preparation of these condensed consolidated financial statements in conformity with U.S. GAAP requires management to make estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities as of the date of these condensed consolidated financial statements, the reported
amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting periods, and the disclosures of contingent liabilities. Accordingly, ultimate results could differ from
those estimates.
Going Concern
Our condensed consolidated financial statements have been prepared assuming that we will continue as a going concern, which contemplates
continuity of operations, realization of assets, and satisfaction of liabilities in the normal course of business. In connection with the preparation of our
condensed consolidated financial statements, we conducted an evaluation as to whether there were conditions and events, considered in the aggregate, that
raised substantial doubt as to the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. As reflected in our condensed consolidated financial statements, the
Company had cash and cash equivalents of $782.5 million and an accumulated deficit of $7.7 billion as of March 31, 2020. The Company also generated
income from operations of $97.5 million and a net loss of $218.2 million for the three months ended March 31, 2020.
On May 13, 2020, the Company and certain of its subsidiaries (each, a “Debtor”) commenced voluntary cases (the “Chapter 11 Cases”) under Chapter
11 of the United States Bankruptcy Code (the “Bankruptcy Code”) in the United States Bankruptcy Court for the Eastern District of Virginia (the
“Bankruptcy Court”). Primary factors causing us to file for Chapter 11 protection included the Company’s intention to participate in the accelerated
clearing process of C-band spectrum set forth in the U.S. Federal Communications Commission’s (“FCC”) final order on the topic, requiring the Company
to incur significant costs now related to clearing activities well in advance of receiving reimbursement for such costs, as well as the economic slowdown
impacting the Company and several of its end markets due to the novel coronavirus (“COVID-19”) pandemic.
Prior to the commencement of the Chapter 11 Cases, the Company entered into a commitment letter (the “Commitment Letter”) with certain parties
(the “Commitment Parties”), pursuant to which, and subject to the satisfaction of certain customary conditions, including the approval of the Bankruptcy
Court, the Commitment Parties have agreed to backstop a non-amortizing multiple draw super-priority senior secured debtor-in-possession term loan
facility (the “DIP Facility”), in an aggregate principal amount of $1.0 billion.
Our ability to continue as a going concern is contingent upon, among other things, our ability to, subject to the Bankruptcy Court’s approval,
implement a business plan of reorganization, emerge from the Chapter 11 proceedings and generate sufficient liquidity following the reorganization to meet
our contractual obligations and operating needs. As a result of risks and uncertainties related to, among other things, (i) the Company’s ability to obtain
requisite support for the business plan of reorganization from various stakeholders, and (ii) the disruptive effects of the Chapter 11 proceedings on our
business making it potentially more difficult to maintain business, financing and operational relationships, substantial doubt exists regarding our ability to
continue as a going concern. For a more detailed discussion about our voluntary reorganization under the Bankruptcy Code, see Note 15—Subsequent
Events.
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The filing of the Chapter 11 Cases constituted an event of default that accelerated substantially all of our obligations under the documents governing
the pre-petition existing indebtedness of Intelsat S.A., Intelsat Luxembourg, Intelsat Connect Finance and Intelsat Jackson. As such, we have reclassified all
debt obligations to current portion of long-term debt on our condensed consolidated balance sheet as of March 31, 2020. For additional discussion
regarding the impact of the Chapter 11 Cases on our debt obligations, see Note 10—Debt.
Our condensed consolidated financial statements do not include any adjustments related to the recoverability and classification of recorded asset
amounts or the amounts and classification of liabilities that might be necessary should we be unable to continue as a going concern.
Impact of COVID-19 on our Company
As a result of the COVID-19 pandemic, in the first quarter of 2020, in an effort to safeguard public health, governments around the world, including
United States (“U.S.”) federal, state and local governments, implemented a number of orders and restrictions on travel and businesses, among other things.
Some of these measures remain in effect and have negatively impacted the U.S. and other economies around the world in the short-term, while the longterm economic impact of COVID-19 remains unknown.
The COVID-19 pandemic has had an adverse impact on our business, operating results and financial condition, a trend we expect to continue. Among
the impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic were a reduction of revenue and a decreased likelihood of collection from certain mobility customers. We continue
to closely monitor the ongoing impact on our employees, customers, business and results of operations.
Cash and Cash Equivalents and Restricted Cash
Cash and cash equivalents consist of cash on hand and highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less, which are generally
time deposits with banks and money market funds. The carrying amount of these investments approximates fair value. Restricted cash represents legally
restricted amounts being held as a compensating balance for certain outstanding letters of credit.
The following table provides a reconciliation of cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash reported within our condensed consolidated balance sheets
to the total sum of these amounts reported in our condensed consolidated statements of cash flows (in thousands):
As of
December 31, 2019

Cash and cash equivalents

$

810,626

$

830,864

Restricted cash

As of
March 31,2020

$

782,522

$

800,622

20,238

Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash

18,100

Recently Adopted Accounting Pronouncements
In June 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-13, Financial Instruments—Credit Losses (Topic 326): Measurement of Credit Losses on Financial
Instruments (“ASU 2016-13”), which changes how companies measure and recognize credit impairment for any financial assets. The standard requires
companies to immediately recognize an estimate of credit losses expected to occur over the remaining life of the financial assets that are within the scope of
the standard. We adopted ASU 2016-13 and its amendments in the first quarter of 2020, on a modified retrospective basis. The adoption of ASU 2016-13
and its amendments increased our reserve for credit losses by $0.9 million as of January 1, 2020.
In January 2017, the FASB issued ASU 2017-04, Intangibles—Goodwill and Other (Topic 350): Simplifying the Test for Goodwill Impairment (“ASU
2017-04”), which is intended to simplify the subsequent measurement of goodwill. The amendments in ASU 2017-04 modify the concept of impairment
from the condition that exists when the carrying amount of goodwill exceeds its fair value to the condition that exists when the carrying amount of a
reporting unit exceeds its fair value. An entity will no longer determine goodwill impairment by calculating the implied fair value of goodwill by assigning
the fair value of a reporting unit to all of its assets and liabilities, as if that reporting unit had been acquired in a business combination. We adopted ASU
2017-04 in the first quarter of 2020, on a prospective basis. As a result, we will measure impairment using the difference between the carrying amount and
the fair value of the reporting unit, if required. For the three months ended March 31, 2020, we conducted a goodwill impairment analysis and determined
the fair value of our reporting unit to be greater than its carrying value, resulting in no impairment of goodwill. See Note 9—Goodwill and Other Intangible
Assets for further information.
In August 2018, the FASB issued ASU 2018-13, Fair Value Measurement (Topic 820)—Disclosure Framework—Changes to the Disclosure
Requirements for Fair Value Measurement (“ASU 2018-13”), as part of its disclosure framework project to improve the effectiveness of disclosures in the
notes to financial statements. Changes in unrealized gains and losses, the range and weighted
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average of significant unobservable inputs used to develop Level 3 fair value measurements, and the narrative description of measurement uncertainty were
applied prospectively for only the most recent interim period presented. All other amendments were applied retrospectively for all periods presented. ASU
2018-13 and its amendments were adopted by the Company in the first quarter of 2020.
Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements
In August 2018, the FASB issued ASU 2018-14, Compensation—Retirement Benefits—Defined Benefit Plans—General (Subtopic 715-20)—
Disclosure Framework—Changes to the Disclosure Requirements for Defined Benefit Plans (“ASU 2018-14”), as part of its disclosure framework project
to improve the effectiveness of disclosures in the notes to financial statements. ASU 2018-14 modifies and clarifies disclosure requirements for employers
that sponsor defined benefit pension or other postretirement plans. The amendments remove certain disclosure requirements and require additional
disclosures. ASU 2018-14 will be effective for the Company for annual periods in fiscal years ending after December 15, 2020, on a retrospective basis to
all periods presented. We are in the process of evaluating the impact that ASU 2018-14 will have on our condensed consolidated financial statements and
associated disclosures.
In December 2019, the FASB issued ASU 2019-12, Income Taxes (Topic 740): Simplifying the Accounting For Income Taxes (“ASU 2019-12”). The
standard removes certain exceptions for recognizing deferred taxes for investments, performing intra-period allocation and calculating income taxes in
interim periods. It also adds guidance to reduce complexity in certain areas, including recognizing deferred taxes for tax goodwill and allocating taxes to
members of a consolidated group. ASU 2019-12 will be effective for the Company for annual periods in fiscal years ending after December 15, 2020. We
are in the process of evaluating the impact that ASU 2019-12 will have on our condensed consolidated financial statements and associated disclosures.
Note 2 Share Capital
Under our Articles of Incorporation, we have an authorized share capital of $10.0 million, represented by 1.0 billion shares of any class with a
nominal value of $0.01 per share. At March 31, 2020, there were approximately 142.1 million common shares issued and outstanding.
Note 3 Revenue
(a) Revenue Recognition
We earn revenue primarily by providing services to our customers using our satellite transponder capacity. Our customers generally obtain satellite
capacity from us by placing an order pursuant to one of several master customer service agreements. On-network services are comprised primarily of
services delivered on our owned network infrastructure, as well as commitments for third-party capacity, generally long-term in nature, that we integrate
and market as part of our owned infrastructure. In the case of third-party services in support of government applications, the commitments for third-party
capacity are shorter and matched to the government contracting period, and thus remain classified as off-network services. Off-network services can
include transponder services and other satellite-based transmission services, such as mobile satellite services (“MSS”), which are sourced from other
operators, often in frequencies not available on our network. Under the category Off-Network and Other Revenues, we also include revenues from
consulting and other services.
For each service type, the price per unit in our contracts is generally fixed for each defined time period. While the number of units or price per unit in
our multi-year contracts may be different by year or another time period, the number of units and price per unit are fixed for each defined time period and
the total contract price is fixed. To determine the proper revenue recognition method for contracts, we evaluate whether two or more services should be
combined and accounted for as a single performance obligation. Our specific revenue recognition policies are as follows:
Satellite Utilization Charges
The Company’s contracts for satellite utilization services often contain multiple service orders for the provision of capacity on or over different
beams, satellites, frequencies, geographies or time periods. Under each separate service order, the Company’s satellite services, comprised of transponder
services, managed services, channel services, and occasional use managed services, are delivered in a series of time periods that are distinct from each
other and have the same pattern of transfer to the customer. In each period, the Company’s obligation is to make those services available to the customer.
Throughout each service period, the Company provides services that are able to be used continuously, and the customer simultaneously receives and
consumes the benefits provided by the Company. We believe that, given that our services are stand-ready obligations that are available continuously, the
passage of time most faithfully reflects our satisfaction of the performance obligation. We also have certain obligations, including providing spare or
substitute capacity if available, in the event of satellite service failure under certain long-term agreements. While we are generally not
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obligated to refund satellite utilization payments previously made, credits may be granted for sustained service outages in certain limited circumstances.
Similar to satellite utilization charges, we have determined that the customer simultaneously receives and consumes benefits provided by the
Company for satellite related consulting and technical services, tracking, telemetry and commanding services (“TT&C”) and in-orbit backup services, as
detailed below. Therefore, similar to satellite utilization charges, we believe that the passage of time most faithfully reflects our satisfaction of the
performance obligation for these services:
Satellite-Related Consulting and Technical Services
We recognize revenue from the provision of consulting services as those services are performed. We recognize revenue for consulting services with
specific performance obligations, such as transfer orbit support services or training programs over the service period.
TT&C
We earn TT&C services revenue from providing operational services to other satellite owners and from certain customers on our satellites. TT&C
agreements entered into in connection with our satellite utilization contracts are typically for the period of the related service agreement. We recognize this
revenue over the term of the service agreement.
In-Orbit Backup Services
We provide back-up transponder capacity that is held on reserve for certain customers on agreed-upon terms. We recognize revenues for in-orbit
backup services over the term of the related agreement.
Revenue Share Arrangements
We recognize revenues under revenue share agreements for satellite-related services either on a gross or net basis in accordance with principal versus
agent considerations.
We occasionally sell products or services individually or in some combination to our customers. When products or services are sold together, we
allocate revenue for each performance obligation based on each obligation’s relative selling price. In these arrangements, revenue for products is
recognized when the transfer of control passes to the customer, while service revenue is recognized over the service term.
Contract Assets
Contract assets include unbilled amounts typically resulting from sales under our long-term contracts when the total contract value is recognized on a
straight-line basis and the revenue recognized exceeds the amount billed to the customer.
Contract Liabilities
Contract liabilities consist of advance payments and collections in excess of revenue recognized and deferred revenue. Our contracts at times contain
prepayment terms that range from one month to one year in advance of providing the service. As a practical expedient, we do not need to adjust the
promised amount of consideration for the effects of a significant financing component if we expect, at contract inception, that the period of time between
when the Company transfers a promised good or service to a customer and when the customer pays for that good or service will be one year or less. For a
small subset of contracts with advance payments that contain prepayment terms greater than one year and up to fifteen years, we assess whether a
significant financing component exists by considering the difference between the amount of promised consideration and the cash selling price of the
promised services. The prepayment amount is generally based on a standard methodology that discounts the total of the standard monthly charges over the
service term to determine the prepayment amount, resulting in a difference between the amount of promised consideration and the cash selling price of the
promised services. The Company considers the timing difference between payment and the promised transfer of services, combined with the Company’s
incremental borrowing rates, to determine whether a significant financing component exists. When a significant financing component exists, the amount of
revenue recognized exceeds the amount of cash received from the customer. After receiving cash from the customer but prior to the Company providing
services, the Company records additional contract liabilities as well as offsetting interest expense to reflect the upfront financing the Company is effectively
receiving from the customer. Once the Company begins providing services, additional interest expense is recorded each period using the effective interest
method, as well as corresponding additional revenue, which is recognized ratably over the service period.
For the three months ended March 31, 2019 and 2020, we recognized revenue of $90.3 million and $86.1 million, respectively, that were included in
the contract liability balances as of January 1, 2019 and 2020, respectively. In addition, the total amount of
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consideration included in contract assets as of January 1, 2019 and 2020 that became unconditional for the three months ended March 31, 2019 and
2020 was $6.2 million and $12.8 million, respectively.
Assets Recognized from the Costs to Obtain a Customer Contract
We recognize an asset for the incremental costs of obtaining a contract with a customer if we expect the benefit of those costs to be longer than one
year. We have determined that our sales incentive program meets the requirements to be capitalized due to the incremental nature of the costs and the
expectation that the Company will recover such costs. The assets recognized from the costs to obtain a customer contract are amortized over a period that is
consistent with the transfer to the customer of the services to which the asset relates. We capitalized $1.9 million and $1.1 million for our sales incentive
program and amortized $1.8 million and $1.6 million for the three months ended March 31, 2019 and 2020, respectively. As of December 31, 2019 and
March 31, 2020, capitalized costs relating to our sales incentive program were $9.4 million and $8.9 million, respectively, which were included within
other assets in our condensed consolidated balance sheets.
Contract Modifications
Contracts are often modified to account for changes in contract specifications or requirements. We consider contract modifications to exist when the
modification either creates new rights or obligations or changes the existing enforceable rights and obligations of either party. Most of our contract
modifications are for goods and services that are distinct from the existing contract, as they consist of additional months of service priced at the Company’s
standalone selling prices of the additional services and are therefore treated as separate contracts. For contract modifications that do not result in additional
distinct goods or services, the effect of a contract modification on the transaction price and our measure of progress for the performance obligation to which
it relates, is recognized as an adjustment to revenue.
Significant Judgments
We occasionally enter into certain contracts in which the customer makes payments in advance of services to be delivered, which may be years in the
future. The reasons for the prepayments in these contracts vary, but generally can be either for the customer’s benefit or for the Company’s benefit (such as
the ability to use the cash received from the customer to pay for the construction of a satellite asset). The determination of whether contracts with a
prepayment provision contain a significant financing component requires judgment. The Company makes this determination based on various factors,
including the differences between the amount of promised consideration and cash selling prices, the length of time between payment and the transfer of
services and prevailing interest rates in the market.
While most satellite utilization contracts contain multiple performance obligations for each transponder service on different satellites, the service
period for the different satellite utilization performance obligations is generally the same time period. In the event that the time period for multiple
performance obligations is not the same, we allocate the total transaction price to each performance obligation in an amount based on the estimated relative
standalone selling price of the promised good or service underlying such performance obligation. Judgment is required to determine the standalone selling
price for each distinct performance obligation. In order to estimate standalone selling prices, we use an adjusted market assessment approach which
involves an evaluation of the market and an estimate of the price that our customers are willing to pay, or an expected cost plus a margin approach.
When more than one party is involved in providing goods or services to a customer, we generally recognize the transaction on a gross basis due to the
level of control that we have prior to the transfer of the good or service. These arrangements include instances where we procure equipment from vendors
and sell to third-party customers, when we enter into revenue sharing arrangements with other parties and when we purchase capacity for voice, data and
video services provided by third-party commercial satellite operators for which the desired frequency type or geographic coverage is not available on our
network. Our third-party capacity arrangements (off-network) are more significant and, in determining whether we are the principal or the agent in these
arrangements, we consider whether or not we control the service before it is transferred to the customer. In this determination, we consider the definition of
control as set forth in ASC 606, Revenue from Contracts with Customers (“ASC 606”), in ASC 606-10-25-25. When we purchase satellite transponder
capacity from a third party, we have the ability to direct the use of and obtain substantially all of the remaining benefits from the purchased capacity. We
obtain the right to the service to be performed by the third party, which gives the Company the ability to direct that party to provide the service to the
customer on the Company’s behalf. No other third party can direct the use of or obtain any benefits from the capacity.
We also considered the factors in ASC 606-10-55-39 in the Company’s determination of control. In the vast majority of cases, when we resell
capacity to third party customers, we are primarily responsible for the fulfillment of the services and acceptability of the service. Additionally, the
Company has full discretion in establishing the pricing for transponder services with the customer and assumes the credit risk associated with capacity
purchased from the third party. In the event the service is not acceptable to the customer, we are required to identify an alternative solution. Based on these
considerations, we have concluded that we are the
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principal in the transaction for these arrangements. When these factors are not met, the Company recognizes revenue for third-party capacity arrangements
on a net basis.
Judgment is required in determining whether we are the principal or the agent in transactions involving third parties.
Remaining Performance Obligations
Our remaining performance obligation is our expected future revenue under our existing customer contracts and includes both cancelable and noncancelable contracts. Our remaining performance obligation was approximately $6.5 billion as of March 31, 2020, approximately 89% of which related to
contracts that were non-cancelable and approximately 11% of which related to contracts that were cancelable subject to substantial termination fees. We
assess the contract term of our cancelable contracts as the full stated term of the contract assuming each contract is not canceled since the termination
penalty upon cancellation is substantive. As of March 31, 2020, the weighted average remaining customer contract life was approximately 4.2 years.
Approximately 35%, 24%, and 41% of our total remaining performance obligation as of March 31, 2020 is expected to be recognized as revenue during
2020 and 2021, 2022 and 2023, and 2024 and thereafter, respectively. The amount included in the remaining performance obligation represents the fullservice charge for the duration of the contract and does not include termination fees. The amount of the termination fees, which is not included in the
remaining performance obligation amount, is generally calculated as a percentage of the remaining performance obligation associated with the contract. In
certain cases of breach for non-payment or customer financial distress or bankruptcy, we may not be able to recover the full value of certain contracts or
termination fees. Our remaining performance obligation includes 100% of the remaining performance obligation of our consolidated ownership interests,
which is consistent with the accounting for our ownership interest in these entities.
(b) Business and Geographic Segment Information
We operate in a single industry segment in which we provide satellite services to our communications customers around the world. Our revenues are
disaggregated by billing region, service type and customer set. Revenue by region is based on the locations of customers to which services are billed. Our
satellites are in geosynchronous orbit, and consequently are not attributable to any geographic location. Of our remaining assets, substantially all are
located in the U.S.
The following table disaggregates revenue by billing region (in thousands, except percentages):
Three Months Ended
March 31, 2019

North America

$

268,370

Three Months Ended
March 31, 2020

51 % $

235,005

51 %
12 %

Europe

61,276

12 %

53,938

Latin America and Caribbean

65,477

12 %

51,475

11 %

Africa and Middle East

62,420

12 %

61,902

13 %

70,906

13 %

56,500

12 %

Asia-Pacific
Total

$

528,449

$

458,820

The following table disaggregates revenue by type of service (in thousands, except percentages):
Three Months Ended
March 31, 2019

Three Months Ended
March 31, 2020

On-Network Revenues
Transponder services

$

Managed services
Channel
Total on-network revenues

377,284

331,334

72 %

93,201

71 % $
18 %

72,261

16 %

691

—%

426

—%

471,176

89 %

404,021

88 %

49,858

9%

43,688

10 %

7,415

1%

11,111

2%

57,273

11 %

54,799

12 %

Off-Network and Other Revenues
Transponder, MSS and other off-network services
Satellite-related services
Total off-network and other revenues
Total

$

16

528,449

$

458,820

By customer application, our revenues from network services, media, government and satellite-related services were $204.3 million, $226.0 million,
$93.2 million and $4.9 million, respectively, for the three months ended March 31, 2019, as compared to $149.4 million, $205.8 million, $95.7 million and
$7.9 million, respectively, for the three months ended March 31, 2020.
Our largest customer accounted for approximately 14% and 15% of our revenue during the three months ended March 31, 2019 and 2020,
respectively. Our ten largest customers accounted for approximately 41% and 42% of our revenue during the three months ended March 31, 2019 and 2020,
respectively.
Note 4 Net Loss per Share
Basic net loss per common share attributable to Intelsat S.A. (“EPS”) is computed by dividing net loss attributable to Intelsat S.A.’s common
shareholders by the weighted average number of common shares outstanding during the periods. Diluted EPS assumes the issuance of common shares
pursuant to share-based compensation plans and conversion of the Intelsat S.A. 4.5% Convertible Senior Notes due 2025 (the "2025 Convertible Notes"),
unless the effect of such issuances would be anti-dilutive.
The following table sets forth the computation of basic and diluted EPS (in thousands, except per share data or where otherwise noted):
Three Months Ended
March 31, 2019

Three Months Ended
March 31, 2020

Numerator:
Net loss attributable to Intelsat S.A.

$

(120,622)

$

(218,771)

Denominator:
Basic weighted average shares outstanding (in millions)

138.9

Diluted weighted average shares outstanding (in millions):

138.9

141.5
141.5

Basic EPS

$

(0.87)

$

(1.55)

Diluted EPS

$

(0.87)

$

(1.55)

In June 2018, Intelsat S.A. completed an offering of $402.5 million aggregate principal amount of its 2025 Convertible Notes. We do not expect to
settle the principal amount of the 2025 Convertible Notes in cash, and we therefore use the if-converted method for calculating any potential dilutive effect
of the conversion on diluted EPS, if applicable. The 2025 Convertible Notes are eligible for conversion depending upon the trading price of our common
shares and under other conditions set forth in the indenture governing the 2025 Convertible Notes (the "2025 Indenture") until December 15, 2024, and
thereafter without regard to any conditions. See Note 10—Debt for additional information on the conversion conditions.
Due to a net loss for each of the three months ended March 31, 2019 and 2020, there were no dilutive securities, and therefore, basic and diluted EPS
were the same. The weighted average number of common shares that could potentially dilute basic EPS in the future was 27.3 million and 22.7 million for
the three months ended March 31, 2019 and 2020, respectively, primarily consisting of the 2025 Convertible Notes.
Note 5 Fair Value Measurements
ASC 820, Fair Value Measurements and Disclosure ("ASC 820") defines fair value, establishes a market-based framework or hierarchy for measuring
fair value and provides for certain required disclosures about fair value measurements. The guidance is applicable whenever another accounting
pronouncement requires or permits assets and liabilities to be measured at fair value but does not require any new fair value measurements.
The fair value hierarchy prioritizes the inputs used in valuation techniques into three levels as follows:
•

Level 1—unadjusted quoted prices for identical assets or liabilities in active markets;

•

Level 2—quoted prices for similar assets and liabilities in active markets, quoted prices for identical or similar assets or liabilities in markets
that are not active, and inputs other than quoted market prices that are observable or that can be corroborated by observable market data by
correlation; and

•

Level 3—unobservable inputs based upon the reporting entity’s internally developed assumptions which market participants would use in
pricing the asset or liability.
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Recurring Fair Value Measurements
The tables below present assets measured and recorded at fair value in our condensed consolidated balance sheets on a recurring basis and their
corresponding level within the fair value hierarchy (in thousands). No transfers between Level 1, Level 2 and Level 3 fair value measurements occurred for
the three months ended March 31, 2020.
Fair Value Measurements as of December 31, 2019

Description
Assets
Marketable securities(1)

As of December 31, 2019

$

Undesignated interest rate cap contracts(2)

$

8,756

$

5,145

$

—

372

—
$

Level 3

—

—

3,239
$

Level 2

5,145

372

Common stock warrant(3)
Total assets

5,145

Level 1

—

—
$

372

3,239
$

3,239

Fair Value Measurements as of March 31, 2020

Description
Assets
Marketable securities(1)

As of March 31, 2020

$

Undesignated interest rate cap contracts(2)
Common stock warrant(3)
Total assets

$

Level 1

4,194

$

Level 2

4,194

$

Level 3

—

$

—

37

—

37

—

3,239

—

—

3,239

7,470

$

4,194

$

37

$

3,239

(1)

The valuation measurement inputs of these marketable securities represent unadjusted quoted prices in active markets and, accordingly, we have
classified such investments within Level 1 of the fair value hierarchy. The cost basis of our marketable securities was $4.3 million and $4.2
million as of December 31, 2019 and March 31, 2020, respectively. We sold marketable securities with a cost basis of $0.3 million and $0.2
million resulting in a nominal loss and nominal gain during the three months ended March 31, 2019 and 2020, respectively. These amounts are
included in other income (expense), net in our condensed consolidated statements of operations.

(2)

The valuation of our interest rate derivative instruments reflects the fair value of premiums paid, taking into account observable inputs including
current interest rates, the market expectation for future interest rate volatility and current creditworthiness of the counterparties. As a result, we
have determined that the valuation in its entirety is classified as Level 2 within the fair value hierarchy.

(3)

We valued the common stock warrant using a valuation technique that reflects the risk-free interest rate, time to maturity and volatility of
comparable companies. We identified the inputs used to calculate the fair value as Level 3 inputs and concluded that the valuation in its entirety is
classified as Level 3 within the fair value hierarchy.

The following table presents a reconciliation of the preferred and common stock warrants which are measured and recorded at fair value on a
recurring basis using Level 3 inputs (in thousands):
Three Months Ended
March 31, 2019

Balance as of beginning of period

$

Unrealized loss included in other income (expense), net

4,100

Three Months Ended
March 31, 2020

$

(908)

Balance as of end of period

$

3,192

3,239
—

$

3,239

Nonrecurring Fair Value Measurements
The carrying values of certain assets may be adjusted to fair value in subsequent periods on a nonrecurring basis if an event occurs or circumstances
change that indicate that the asset is impaired or, for investments in equity securities without readily determinable fair values, observable transactions for
identical or similar investments of the same issuer support a change in the investment fair value. During the first quarter of 2020, as a result of our interim
impairment assessments, we recognized an impairment of non-amortizable intangible assets of $12.2 million. This fair value measurement is classified as
Level 3 within the fair value hierarchy due to the use of significant unobservable inputs. See Note 9—Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets for additional
information.
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Other Fair Value Disclosures
See Note 8—Investments and Note 10—Debt for fair value disclosures related to our loan receivables and debt, respectively. The carrying amounts of
the Company's other financial instruments are reasonable estimates of their related fair values due to their short-term nature.
Note 6 Retirement Plans and Other Retiree Benefits
(a) Pension and Other Postretirement Benefits
We maintain a noncontributory defined benefit retirement plan covering substantially all of our employees hired prior to July 19, 2001. The cost of
providing benefits to eligible participants under the defined benefit retirement plan is calculated using the plan’s benefit formulas, which take into account
the participants’ remuneration, dates of hire, years of eligible service and certain actuarial assumptions. In addition, as part of the overall medical plan, we
provide postretirement medical benefits to certain current retirees who meet the criteria under the medical plan for postretirement benefit eligibility. In
2015, we amended the defined benefit retirement plan to end the accrual of additional benefits for the remaining active participants.
The defined benefit retirement plan is subject to the provisions of the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, as amended. We expect that
our future contributions to the defined benefit retirement plan will be based on the minimum funding requirements of the Internal Revenue Code and on the
plan’s funded status. Any significant decline in the fair value of our defined benefit retirement plan assets or other adverse changes to the significant
assumptions used to determine the plan’s funded status would negatively impact its funded status and could result in increased funding in future years. The
impact on the funded status is determined based upon market conditions in effect when we completed our annual valuation. For the three months ended
March 31, 2020, we made cash contributions to the defined benefit retirement plan of $0.9 million. We anticipate that our remaining contributions to the
defined benefit retirement plan in 2020 will be approximately $3.1 million. We fund the postretirement medical benefits throughout the year based on
benefits paid. We anticipate that our contributions to fund postretirement medical benefits in 2020 will be approximately $2.9 million.
Included in accumulated other comprehensive loss at March 31, 2020 was $95.7 million ($64.3 million, net of tax) that has not yet been recognized in
net periodic benefit cost.
The tables below show the components of net periodic benefit cost (income) for the three months ended March 31, 2019 and 2020 (in thousands).
These amounts are recognized in other income (expense), net in the condensed consolidated statements of operations.
Pension Benefits
Three Months Ended
March 31, 2019

Interest cost

$

Expected return on plan assets

3,848

Three Months Ended
March 31, 2020

$

2,962

(5,873)

Amortization of unrecognized net loss

(5,810)

1,055

Net periodic benefit cost

$

(970)

1,600
$

(1,248)

Other Postretirement Benefits
Three Months Ended
March 31, 2019

Interest cost

$

383

Three Months Ended
March 31, 2020

$

266

Amortization of unrecognized prior service credits

(636)

(636)

Amortization of unrecognized net gain

(307)

(305)

Net periodic benefit cost

$

(560)

$

(675)

(b) Other Retirement Plans
We maintain a defined contribution retirement plan qualified under the provisions of Section 401(k) of the Internal Revenue Code for our employees
in the United States. We recognized compensation expense for this plan of $2.1 million and $2.3 million for the three months ended March 31, 2019 and
2020, respectively. We also maintain other defined contribution retirement plans in several non-U.S. jurisdictions, but such plans are not material to our
financial position or results of operations.
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Note 7 Satellites and Other Property and Equipment
(a) Satellites and Other Property and Equipment, net
Satellites and other property and equipment, net were comprised of the following (in thousands):
As of
December 31, 2019

Satellites and launch vehicles

$

Information systems and ground segment

10,407,690

As of
March 31,2020

$

968,482

Buildings and other
Total cost
Less: accumulated depreciation
Total

$

10,386,205
982,751

280,109

281,506

11,656,281

11,650,462

(6,954,218)

(7,034,255)

4,702,063

$

4,616,207

Satellites and other property and equipment are stated at historical cost, except for satellites that have been impaired. Satellites and other property and
equipment acquired as part of an acquisition are stated based on their fair value at the date of acquisition.
During the first quarter of 2020, the price of our common shares and trading values of our debt securities experienced sustained reductions. We also
witnessed certain declines in financial performance as compared to previously prepared internal budget and forecast projections. Among the impacts of the
COVID-19 pandemic were a reduction of revenue and a decreased likelihood of collection from certain mobility customers. Based on our examination of
these and other qualitative factors, we concluded that further testing of satellites and other property and equipment was required.
The Company evaluated the assets for potential impairment using internal projections of undiscounted cash flows expected to result from the use and
eventual disposal of the assets. If the carrying amount of the assets exceeds the undiscounted cash flows expected to result from its use, an impairment
expense is recognized for the amount by which the carrying amount of the asset group exceeds its fair value. The impairment expense cannot exceed the
carrying amount of the long-lived assets (unless the carrying amount is not being reduced below fair value for any individual long-lived asset that is
determinable without undue cost and effort).
In estimating the undiscounted cash flows, we primarily used our internally prepared budgets and forecast information. The key assumptions included
in our model were projected growth rates, cost of capital, effective tax rates, and industry and economic trends. A change in estimated future cash flows or
other assumptions could change our estimated fair values and result in future impairments. The conclusion of our analysis was that the undiscounted cash
flows of the asset group were greater than its carrying value, resulting in no impairment.
Satellites and other property and equipment, net included construction-in-progress of $191.5 million and $252.3 million as of December 31, 2019 and
March 31, 2020, respectively. These amounts relate primarily to satellites under construction and related launch services. Interest costs of $8.3 million and
$4.0 million were capitalized for the three months ended March 31, 2019 and 2020, respectively. Additionally, depreciation expense was $162.5 million
and $154.4 million for the three months ended March 31, 2019 and 2020, respectively.
We have entered into launch contracts for the launch of both specified and unspecified future satellites. Each of these launch contracts may be
terminated at our option, subject to payment of a termination fee that increases as the applicable launch date approaches. In addition, in the event of a
failure of any launch, we may exercise our right to obtain a replacement launch within a specified period following our request for re-launch.
(b) Satellite Launches
Intelsat 39 was successfully launched on August 6, 2019. Intelsat 39 replaced Intelsat 902 at the 62ºE location and delivers connectivity services in
both the C- and Ku-bands to mobile network operators, enterprises and government customers, as well as aeronautical and maritime mobility service
providers operating in the Europe, Africa, Middle East and Asia-Pacific regions. Intelsat 39 entered into service in October 2019.
(c) Significant Anomalies
In April 2019, the Intelsat 29e satellite (in service since 2016) experienced an anomaly that resulted in a total loss of the satellite. In accordance with
our existing satellite anomaly contingency plans, we restored service for most Intelsat 29e customers on other satellites in our network, as well as on thirdparty satellites. We recorded a non-cash impairment charge of $381.6 million in the second quarter of 2019, of which $377.9 million related to the write off
of the carrying value of the satellite and associated deferred performance incentive obligations and $3.7 million related to prepaid regulatory fees.
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A Failure Review Board comprised of the satellite’s manufacturer, Boeing Satellite Systems, Inc., the Company and external independent experts was
convened to complete a comprehensive analysis of the cause of the anomaly. The board concluded that the anomaly was either caused by a harness flaw in
conjunction with an electrostatic discharge event related to solar weather activity, or the impact of a micrometeoroid.
Note 8 Investments
We have an ownership interest in two entities that meet the criteria of a variable interest entity (“VIE”): Horizons Satellite Holdings LLC (“Horizons
Holdings”) and Horizons-3 Satellite LLC (“Horizons 3”), which are discussed in further detail below, including our analyses of the primary beneficiary
determination as required under ASC 810, Consolidation (“ASC 810”). We also own noncontrolling investments in equity securities and loan receivables
as discussed further below.
(a) Horizons Holdings
Horizons Holdings is a joint venture with JSAT International, Inc. (“JSAT”) that consists of two investments: Horizons-1 Satellite LLC and Horizons2 Satellite LLC. Horizons Holdings borrowed from JSAT a portion of the funds necessary to finance the construction of the Horizons 2 satellite pursuant to
a loan agreement. The borrowing was subsequently repaid. We provide certain services to the joint venture and in return utilize capacity from the joint
venture.
We have determined that this joint venture meets the criteria of a VIE under ASC 810, and we have concluded that we are the primary beneficiary
because decisions relating to any future relocation of the Horizons 2 satellite, the most significant asset of the joint venture, are effectively controlled by us.
In accordance with ASC 810, as the primary beneficiary, we consolidate Horizons Holdings within our condensed consolidated financial statements. Total
assets of Horizons Holdings were $22.2 million and $19.5 million as of December 31, 2019 and March 31, 2020, respectively. Total liabilities were
nominal as of both December 31, 2019 and March 31, 2020.
We have a revenue sharing agreement with JSAT related to services sold on the Horizons 1 and Horizons 2 satellites. We are responsible for billing
and collection for such services, and we remit 50% of the revenue, less applicable fees and commissions, to JSAT. Amounts payable to JSAT related to the
revenue sharing agreement, net of applicable fees and commissions, from the Horizons 1 and Horizons 2 satellites were $1.6 million and $3.0 million as of
December 31, 2019 and March 31, 2020, respectively.
(b) Horizons-3 Satellite LLC
On November 4, 2015, we entered into an additional joint venture agreement with JSAT. The joint venture, Horizons 3, was formed for the purpose of
developing, launching, managing, operating and owning a high-performance satellite located at the 169ºE orbital location.
Horizons 3, which is 50% owned by each of Intelsat and JSAT, was set up with joint sharing of management authority and equal rights to profits and
revenues from the joint venture. Similar to Horizons Holdings, we have a revenue sharing agreement with JSAT related to services sold on the Horizons 3e
satellite. In addition, we are responsible for billing and collection for such services, and we remit 50% of the revenue, less applicable fees and
commissions, to JSAT. Amounts payable to JSAT related to the revenue sharing agreement, net of applicable fees and commissions, from the Horizons 3e
satellite were $3.3 million and $4.2 million as of December 31, 2019 and March 31, 2020, respectively.
We have determined that this joint venture meets the criteria of a VIE under ASC 810; however, we have concluded that we are not the primary
beneficiary and therefore do not consolidate Horizons 3. The assessment considered both quantitative and qualitative factors, including an analysis of
voting power and other means of control of the joint venture, as well as each owner’s exposure to risk of loss or gain. Because we and JSAT equally share
control over the operations of the joint venture and also equally share exposure to risk of losses or gains, we concluded that we are not the primary
beneficiary of Horizons 3. Our investment, included within other assets in our condensed consolidated balance sheets, is accounted for using the equity
method of accounting. The investment balance, which is equivalent to our maximum exposure to loss, was $110.2 million and $101.1 million as of
December 31, 2019 and March 31, 2020, respectively. The investment balance exceeded our equity in the net assets of Horizons 3 by $11.6 million and
$11.4 million as of December 31, 2019 and March 31, 2020, respectively. This basis difference represents the capitalized interest that we incurred in
relation to financing our investment and we recognize it as a reduction of our equity in earnings of Horizons 3 on a straight-line basis over the life of the
satellite. We recognized a nominal amount of equity in earnings of Horizons 3 in other income (expense), net for each of the three months ended March 31,
2019 and 2020.
In connection with our investment in Horizons 3, we entered into a capital contribution and subscription agreement, which requires us to fund our
50% share of amounts due thereunder in order to maintain our 50% interest in the joint venture. Pursuant to this agreement, we made contributions of $5.0
million for the year ended December 31, 2019, with no comparable amounts for the three months ended March 31, 2020. We received distributions of $5.0
million for the year ended December 31, 2019 and $9.0 million for the three months end March 31, 2020. The Company utilizes the cumulative earnings
approach to determine whether distributions
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received from equity method investees are returns on investment or returns of investment. In addition, our indirect subsidiary that holds our investment in
Horizons 3 has entered into a security and pledge agreement with Horizons 3, pursuant to which it has granted a security interest in its membership interest
in Horizons 3. Further, our indirect subsidiary has granted a security interest to Horizons 3 in its customer capacity contracts and its ownership interest in
its wholly-owned subsidiary that holds the FCC license required for the joint venture’s operations.
The Horizons 3e satellite entered into service in January 2019. The Company purchases satellite capacity and related services from the Horizons 3
joint venture, and then sells that capacity to its customers. We incurred direct costs of revenue related to these purchases of $3.6 million and $5.0 million
for the three months ended March 31, 2019 and 2020, respectively. The Company also sells managed ground network services to the Horizons 3 joint
venture and provides program management services for a fee. We recorded an offset to direct costs of revenue of $0.3 million and $1.8 million related to
the provision of these services for the three months ended March 31, 2019 and 2020, respectively. On the condensed consolidated balance sheets as of
December 31, 2019 and March 31, 2020, $0.5 million due from Horizons 3 was included in receivables and $1.7 million and $3.3 million due to Horizons
3 was included in accounts payable and accrued liabilities, respectively.
(c) Investments in Equity Securities
The Company holds noncontrolling equity investments in seven separate privately held companies, including investments in equity securities without
readily determinable fair values and common stock warrants.
In accordance with ASC 321, Investments—Equity Securities, we use the measurement alternative to measure the fair value of our investments in
equity securities without readily determinable fair values. Accordingly, these investments are measured at cost, less any impairment, and are adjusted for
changes in fair value resulting from observable transactions for identical or similar investments of the same issuer. These investments are recorded in other
assets in our condensed consolidated balance sheets and had a total carrying value of $27.2 million as of December 31, 2019 and March 31, 2020,
respectively.
We measure our stock warrants at fair value (see Note 5—Fair Value Measurements and Note 11—Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities for
additional information). The warrants are recorded in other assets in our condensed consolidated balance sheets and had a cumulative fair value of $3.2
million as of December 31, 2019 and March 31, 2020, respectively.
(d) Loan Receivables
The Company has loan receivables from five privately held companies that it is holding for long-term investment. These loan receivables are reported
at amortized cost, net of the allowance for credit losses. Amortized cost is the outstanding principal, adjusted for unamortized discounts and deferred
transaction costs. The Company recognizes interest income on loan receivables using the effective-interest method applied on a loan-by-loan basis. Direct
costs associated with originating loans are offset against any related fees received and the balance, along with any premium or discount, is deferred and
amortized as an adjustment to interest income over the term of the related loan receivable using the effective interest method.
Loan receivables are recorded in other assets in our condensed consolidated balance sheets at an amortized cost basis, net of allowance for credit
losses, of $70.4 million and $72.6 million as of December 31, 2019 and March 31, 2020, respectively. These amounts were net of an allowance for credit
losses of $4.6 million, unamortized discount of $3.0 million and $2.4 million, and unamortized deferred transaction costs of $1.0 million and $0.8 million
as of the respective periods. As of December 31, 2019 and March 31, 2020, respectively, $1.5 million and $1.0 million of accrued interest related to our
loan receivables was recorded in prepaid expenses and other current assets in our condensed consolidated balance sheets. We recognized interest income
related to our loan receivables of $0.9 million for the three months ended March 31, 2020, with no comparative amounts for the three months ended March
31, 2019.
A loan is determined to be impaired and placed on non-accrual status when, in management’s judgment based on current information and events, it is
probable that the Company will be unable to collect all amounts due under the contractual terms of the applicable loan agreement. We did not recognize
any allowance for losses related to loan receivables during the three months ended March 31, 2019 and 2020.
The fair value of loan receivables is evaluated on a loan-by-loan basis, and is determined based on assessments of discounted cash flows that are
considered probable of collection. We consider these inputs to be Level 3 within the fair value hierarchy under ASC 820. The cumulative fair value of our
loan receivables as of December 31, 2019 and March 31, 2020 was $69.3 million and $72.8 million, respectively.
Note 9 Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets
We account for goodwill and other non-amortizable intangible assets in accordance with ASC 350, Intangibles—Goodwill and Other, and have
deemed these assets to have indefinite lives. Therefore, these assets are not amortized but are tested on an annual
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basis for impairment during the fourth quarter, or whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be fully
recoverable.
During the first quarter of 2020, the price of our common shares and trading values of our debt securities experienced sustained reductions. We also
witnessed certain declines in financial performance as compared to previously prepared internal budget and forecast projections. Among the impacts of the
COVID-19 pandemic were a reduction of revenue and a decreased likelihood of collection from certain mobility customers. Based on our examination of
these and other qualitative factors, we concluded that further testing of goodwill and other non-amortizable and amortizable intangible assets was required.
Determining the fair value of a reporting unit and other intangible assets often involves the use of estimates and assumptions that require significant
judgment, and that could have a substantial impact on whether or not an impairment charge is recognized and the magnitude of any such charge. Estimates
of fair value are primarily determined using discounted cash flows and market transactions. These estimates involve making significant estimates and
assumptions, including projected future cash flows (including timing), discount rates reflecting the risks inherent in future cash flows, perpetual growth
rates, and the determination of appropriate market comparisons.
(a) Goodwill
For the analysis of goodwill, we applied ASU 2017-04, which is further described in Note 1—General. If the carrying amount of a reporting unit
exceeds its fair value, an impairment loss shall be recognized in an amount equal to that excess, limited to the total amount of goodwill allocated to that
reporting unit. After recognizing the impairment loss, the loss establishes a new corresponding basis in the goodwill. Subsequent reversals of goodwill
impairment losses are not permitted under applicable accounting standards.
Intelsat has only one reporting unit for purposes of the analysis of goodwill, and accordingly, the analysis is undertaken at the enterprise level. We
determined the estimated fair value of our reporting unit using a discounted cash flow analysis, along with independent source data related to comparative
market multiples and, when available, recent transactions, each of which is considered a Level 3 input within the fair value hierarchy under ASC 820. The
discounted cash flows were derived from a five-year projection of cash flows plus a residual value, with the resulting projected cash flows discounted at an
appropriate weighted average cost of capital.
In estimating the undiscounted cash flows, we primarily used our internally prepared budgets and forecast information. The key assumptions included
in our model were projected growth rates, cost of capital, effective tax rates, and industry and economic trends, along with the C-band accelerated clearing
incentive payments expected to be received subject to the achievement of certain milestones and the discount rate applied to those cash flows. A change in
estimated future cash flows or other assumptions could change our estimated fair values and result in future impairments. The conclusion of our analysis
was that the fair value of our reporting unit was greater than its carrying value, resulting in no impairment of goodwill.
The carrying amounts of goodwill consisted of the following (in thousands):
As of
December 31, 2019

Goodwill

$

Accumulated impairment losses

6,780,827

As of
March 31,2020

$

(4,160,200)
$

Net carrying amount

2,620,627

6,780,827
(4,160,200)

$

2,620,627

(b) Orbital Locations, Trade Name and Other Intangible Assets
Orbital Locations. Intelsat is authorized by governments to operate satellites at certain orbital locations—i.e., longitudinal coordinates along the
Clarke Belt. The Clarke Belt is the part of space approximately 35,800 kilometers above the plane of the equator where geostationary orbit may be
achieved. Various governments acquire rights to these orbital locations through filings made with the International Telecommunication Union, a suborganization of the United Nations. We will continue to have rights to operate satellites at our orbital locations so long as we maintain our authorizations to
do so.
Our rights to operate at orbital locations can be used and sold individually; however, since satellites and customers can be and are moved from one
orbital location to another, our rights are used in conjunction with each other as a network that can be adapted to meet the changing needs of our customers
and market demands. Due to the interchangeable nature of orbital locations, the aggregate value of all of the orbital locations is used to measure the extent
of impairment, if any.
We determined the estimated fair value of our rights to operate at orbital locations by using the build-up method to determine cash flows for the
income approach, with the resulting projected cash flows discounted at an appropriate weighted average cost of capital. Under the build-up approach, the
amount a reasonable investor would be willing to pay for the right to operate a satellite business using orbital locations is calculated by first estimating the
cash flows that typical market participants might assume could be available from the right to operate satellites using the subject location in a similar
market. It is assumed that rather than acquiring such
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a business as a going concern, the buyer would hypothetically start with the right to operate satellites at orbital locations and build a new business with
similar attributes from the beginning. Thus, the buyer is assumed to incur the start-up costs and losses typically associated with the going concern value and
pay for all other tangible and intangible assets.
The key assumptions used in estimating the fair values of our rights to operate at our orbital locations included the following: (i) market penetration
leading to revenue growth, (ii) profit margin, (iii) duration and profile of the build-up period, (iv) estimated start-up costs and losses incurred during the
build-up period and (v) weighted average cost of capital.
We completed our analysis of the estimated fair value of our rights to operate at certain orbital locations in connection with the analysis of goodwill
described above and concluded that the fair value was greater than the carrying value, resulting in no impairment.
Trade Name. We have implemented the relief from royalty method to determine the estimated fair value of the Intelsat trade name. The relief from
royalty analysis is comprised of two major steps: (i) a determination of the hypothetical royalty rate, and (ii) the subsequent application of the royalty rate
to projected revenue. In determining the hypothetical royalty rate utilized in the relief from royalty approach, we considered comparable license
agreements, an excess earnings analysis to determine aggregate intangible asset earnings, and other qualitative factors, each of which is considered a Level
3 input within the fair value hierarchy under ASC 820.
The key assumptions used in our model to estimate the fair value of the Intelsat trade name included forecasted revenues, the royalty rate, the tax rate
and the discount rate. We completed our analysis of the estimated fair value of the Intelsat trade name in connection with the analysis of goodwill described
above and it resulted in an impairment of our trade name intangible asset of $12.2 million, which is included within impairment of non-amortizable
intangible assets in the condensed consolidated statements of operations.
The carrying amounts of acquired intangible assets not subject to amortization consisted of the following (in thousands):
As of
December 31, 2019

Orbital locations

$

2,387,700

Trade name

As of
March 31,2020

$

2,387,700

65,200

Total non-amortizable intangible assets

$

2,452,900

53,000
$

2,440,700

Other Intangible Assets. The Company evaluated acquired intangible assets subject to amortization for potential impairment using internal projections
of undiscounted cash flows expected to result from the use and eventual disposal of the assets. The key assumptions included in our model were projected
growth rates, cost of capital, effective tax rates, and industry and economic trends. A change in estimated future cash flows or other assumptions could
change our estimated fair values and result in future impairments. The conclusion of our analysis was that the undiscounted cash flows of the asset group
were greater than its carrying value, resulting in no impairment.
The carrying amounts and accumulated amortization of acquired intangible assets subject to amortization consisted of the following (in thousands):
As of December 31, 2019
Gross Carrying
Amount

Backlog and other

$

Customer relationships
Total

743,760

$

534,030
$

1,277,790

As of March 31, 2020

Accumulated
Amortization

Net Carrying
Amount

(713,205)

$

(287,833)
$

Gross Carrying
Amount

30,555

$

743,760

246,197

(1,001,038)

$

Accumulated
Amortization

$

534,030

276,752

$

(715,568)

Net Carrying
Amount

$

28,192

(293,246)

1,277,790

$

(1,008,814)

240,784
$

268,976

Intangible assets are amortized based on the expected pattern of consumption. Amortization expense was $8.6 million and $7.8 million for the three
months ended March 31, 2019 and 2020, respectively.
Note 10 Debt
The carrying values and fair values of our notes payable and debt were as follows (in thousands):
As of December 31, 2019
Carrying Value

Intelsat S.A.:
4.5% Convertible Senior Notes due June 2025

$

402,500

Unamortized prepaid debt issuance costs and discount on 4.5%
Convertible Senior Notes

(133,310)
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As of March 31, 2020

Fair Value

$

Carrying Value

265,231
—

$

402,500
(129,037)

Fair Value

$

82,513
—

As of December 31, 2019
Carrying Value

As of March 31, 2020

Fair Value

Carrying Value

Fair Value

Total Intelsat S.A. obligations

269,190

265,231

273,463

82,513

Intelsat Luxembourg:
7.75% Senior Notes due June 2021

421,219

336,975

421,219

202,185

(1,257)

—

(1,045)

—

1,000,000

590,000

1,000,000

190,000

Unamortized prepaid debt issuance costs on 7.75% Senior Notes
8.125% Senior Notes due June 2023
Unamortized prepaid debt issuance costs on 8.125% Senior Notes
12.5% Senior Notes due November 2024

(5,838)

—

(5,465)

—

403,350

277,152

403,350

118,605

Unamortized prepaid debt issuance costs and discount on 12.5%
Senior Notes
Total Intelsat Luxembourg obligations

(184,344)

—

(180,047)

—

1,633,130

1,204,127

1,638,012

510,790

Intelsat Connect Finance:
9.5% Senior Notes due February 2023

1,250,000

865,625

1,250,000

431,250

(27,741)

—

(25,833)

—

1,222,259

865,625

1,224,167

431,250

490,000

562,275

490,000

534,100

Unamortized prepaid debt issuance costs and discount on 9.5%
Senior Notes
Total Intelsat Connect Finance obligations
Intelsat Jackson:
9.5% Senior Secured Notes due September 2022
Unamortized prepaid debt issuance costs and discount on 9.5%
Senior Secured Notes
8% Senior Secured Notes due February 2024
Unamortized prepaid debt issuance costs and premium on 8% Senior
Secured Notes
5.5% Senior Notes due August 2023
Unamortized prepaid debt issuance costs on 5.5% Senior Notes
9.75% Senior Notes due July 2025
Unamortized prepaid debt issuance costs on 9.75% Senior Notes
8.5% Senior Notes due October 2024
Unamortized prepaid debt issuance costs and premium on 8.5%
Senior Notes
Senior Secured Credit Facilities due November 2023
Unamortized prepaid debt issuance costs and discount on Senior
Secured Credit Facilities

(11,204)

—

(10,312)

—

1,349,678

1,380,046

1,349,678

1,282,194

(3,903)

—

(3,702)

—

1,985,000

1,687,250

1,985,000

1,161,225

(8,723)

—

(8,170)

—

1,885,000

1,729,488

1,885,000

1,178,125

(20,487)

—

(19,786)

—

2,950,000

2,669,750

2,950,000

1,740,500

(12,916)

—

(12,365)

—

2,000,000

1,985,000

2,000,000

1,840,000

(22,149)

—

(20,887)

—

Senior Secured Credit Facilities due January 2024

395,000

398,950

395,000

361,425

Unamortized prepaid debt issuance costs and discount on Senior
Secured Credit Facilities
6.625% Senior Secured Credit Facilities due January 2024

(1,600)

—

(1,512)

—

700,000

712,250

700,000

644,000

Unamortized prepaid debt issuance costs and discount on Senior
Secured Credit Facilities

(2,832)

—

(2,677)

—

11,670,864

11,125,009

11,675,267

8,741,569

Eliminations:
8.125% Senior Notes of Intelsat Luxembourg due June 2023 owned by
Intelsat Jackson
Unamortized prepaid debt issuance costs on 8.125% Senior Notes

(111,663)

(65,881)

(111,663)

(21,216)

652

—

610

—

12.5% Senior Notes of Intelsat Luxembourg due November 2024 owned
by Intelsat Connect Finance, Intelsat Jackson and Intelsat Envision

(403,245)

(277,080)

(403,245)

(118,574)

Total Intelsat Jackson obligations
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As of December 31, 2019
Carrying Value

Unamortized prepaid debt issuance costs and discount on 12.5%
Senior Notes
Total eliminations:
Total Intelsat S.A. debt

As of March 31, 2020

Fair Value

184,296

—

(329,960)
$

14,465,483

Carrying Value

180,001

(342,961)
$

13,117,031

Fair Value

—

(334,297)
$

14,476,612

(139,790)
$

9,626,332

The fair value for publicly traded instruments is determined using quoted market prices, and the fair value for non-publicly traded instruments is
based upon composite pricing from a variety of sources, including market leading data providers, market makers, and leading brokerage firms.
Substantially all of the inputs used to determine the fair value of our debt are classified as Level 1 inputs within the fair value hierarchy under ASC 820,
except for our senior secured credit facilities and our 2025 Convertible Notes, the inputs for which are classified as Level 2.
Intelsat S.A. 2025 Convertible Notes
In June 2018, we completed an offering of 15,498,652 Intelsat S.A. common shares, nominal value $0.01 per share (the “Common Shares Offering”),
at a public offering price of $14.84 per common share, and we completed an offering of $402.5 million aggregate principal amount of the 2025 Convertible
Notes. These notes are guaranteed by a direct subsidiary of Intelsat Luxembourg, Intelsat Envision. The net proceeds from the Common Shares Offering
and 2025 Convertible Notes offering were used to repurchase approximately $600 million aggregate principal amount of Intelsat Luxembourg’s 7.75%
Senior Notes due 2021 (the “2021 Luxembourg Notes”) in privately negotiated transactions with individual holders in June 2018. In connection with the
repurchase of the 2021 Luxembourg Notes, we recognized a net gain on early extinguishment of debt of $22.1 million consisting of the difference between
the carrying value of debt repurchased and the total cash amount paid (including related fees and expenses), together with a write-off of unamortized debt
issuance costs. We used the remaining net proceeds of the Common Shares Offering and 2025 Convertible Notes offering for further repurchases of 2021
Luxembourg Notes and for other general corporate purposes, including repurchases of other tranches of debt of Intelsat S.A.’s subsidiaries.
The 2025 Convertible Notes mature on June 15, 2025 unless earlier repurchased, converted or redeemed, as set forth in the 2025 Indenture. Holders
may elect to convert their notes depending upon the trading price of our common shares and under other conditions set forth in the 2025 Indenture until
December 15, 2024, and thereafter without regard to any conditions. The initial conversion rate is 55.0085 common shares per $1,000 principal amount of
notes, which is equivalent to an initial conversion price of approximately $18.18 per common share, subject to customary adjustments, and will be
increased upon the occurrence of specified events set forth in the 2025 Indenture. We may redeem the 2025 Convertible Notes at our option, on or after
June 15, 2022, and prior to the forty-second scheduled trading day preceding the maturity date, in whole or in part, depending upon the trading price of our
common shares as set forth in the optional redemption provisions in the 2025 Indenture or in the event of certain developments affecting taxation with
respect to the 2025 Convertible Notes. Based on the closing price of our common shares of $1.53 on March 31, 2020, the if-converted value of the 2025
Convertible Notes did not exceed the aggregate principal amount.
In accounting for the transaction, the 2025 Convertible Notes were separated into liability and equity components. The carrying amount of the
liability component was calculated by measuring the fair value of a similar debt instrument that does not have an associated convertible feature. The
carrying amount of the equity component is $149.4 million, which is also recognized as a discount on the 2025 Convertible Notes and represents the value
assigned to the conversion option which was determined by deducting the fair value of the liability component from the par value of the 2025 Convertible
Notes. The $149.4 million equity component was included in additional paid-in capital on our condensed consolidated balance sheets as of both December
31, 2019 and March 31, 2020, and will not be remeasured as long as it continues to meet the conditions for equity classification. The excess of the principal
amount of the liability component over its carrying amount was recorded as a discount on the 2025 Convertible Notes and will be amortized to interest
expense over the contractual term of the 2025 Convertible Notes at an effective interest rate of 13.0%.
We incurred debt issuance costs of $12.7 million related to the 2025 Convertible Notes, which were allocated to the liability and equity components
based on their relative values. Issuance costs attributable to the liability component were $7.3 million and will be amortized to interest expense using the
effective interest method over the contractual term of the 2025 Convertible Notes. Issuance costs attributable to the equity component were netted against
the equity component in additional paid-in capital.
Interest expense related to the 2025 Convertible Notes was as follows (in thousands):
Three Months Ended
March 31, 2019

Coupon interest

$

Amortization of discount and prepaid debt issuance costs

4,528

Three Months Ended
March 31, 2020

$

3,754
$

Total interest expense
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8,282

4,528
4,273

$

8,801

Intelsat Jackson Senior Secured Credit Agreement and the Company and Certain of its Subsidiaries' Indentures
The commencement of the Chapter 11 Cases constituted an immediate event of default under Intelsat Jackson’s secured credit agreement, dated as of
January 12, 2011 (as amended, the “Intelsat Jackson Secured Credit Agreement”), as well as under the indentures governing certain of the Company and its
subsidiaries’ senior secured notes and senior notes, resulting in the automatic and immediate acceleration of substantially all of our outstanding debt. Any
efforts to enforce payment obligations related to the acceleration of our debt have been automatically stayed as a result of the filing of the Chapter 11
Cases, and the creditors’ rights of enforcement are subject to the applicable provisions of the Bankruptcy Code.
In addition, on April 27, 2020, our London Inter-Bank Offered Rate loans under the Intelsat Jackson Secured Credit Agreement were converted to
Alternate Base Rate (“ABR”) loans. We expect to pay interest on the floating rate term loans under the Intelsat Jackson Secured Credit Agreement at the
rate applicable to ABR loans.
Debtor-in-Possession Financing Commitment
Prior to the commencement of the Chapter 11 Cases, Intelsat Jackson entered into a Commitment Letter with certain Commitment Parties regarding a
DIP Facility. See Note 15—Subsequent Events.

Note 11 Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities
Interest Rate Cap Contracts
As of December 31, 2019 and March 31, 2020, we held interest rate cap contracts with an aggregate notional value of $2.4 billion that mature in
February 2021. These interest rate cap contracts, which were entered into in 2017 and amended in 2018, are designed to mitigate our risk of interest rate
increases on the floating rate portion of our senior secured credit facilities (see Note 10—Debt). The contracts have not been designated for hedge
accounting treatment in accordance with ASC 815, Derivatives and Hedging (“ASC 815”), and the changes in fair value of these instruments, net of
payments received, are recognized in the condensed consolidated statements of operations during the period of change. We received $3.6 million in
settlement payments related to the interest rate cap contracts for the three months ended March 31, 2019 with no comparable amounts for the three months
ended March 31, 2020.
Preferred Stock Warrant and Common Stock Warrant
During 2017, we were issued a warrant to purchase preferred shares of one of our investments. We concluded that the warrant is a free-standing
derivative in accordance with ASC 815. As of December 31, 2019 and March 31, 2020, the fair value of the preferred stock warrant was zero. During 2019,
we were issued a warrant to purchase common shares of a separate investment. We concluded that the warrant is a free-standing derivative in accordance
with ASC 815.
The following table sets forth the fair value of our derivatives by category (in thousands):
Derivatives not designated as hedging
instruments

Classification

Common stock warrant

Other assets

Interest rate cap contracts

Other assets

As of
December 31, 2019

$

3,239

As of
March 31,2020

$

3,239

$

3,276

372

Total derivatives

$

3,611

37

The following table sets forth the effect of the derivative instruments in our condensed consolidated statements of operations (in thousands):
Derivatives not designated as hedging
instruments

Classification

Three Months Ended
March 31, 2019

Interest rate cap contracts

Loss included in interest expense, net

Preferred stock warrant

Loss included in other income, net

Total loss on derivative financial instruments

$

(8,618)

Three Months Ended
March 31, 2020

$

(335)

$

(335)

(908)
$

(9,526)

—

Note 12 Income Taxes
In February 2018, the FASB issued ASU 2018-02, Income Statement—Reporting Comprehensive Income (Topic 220)—Reclassification of Certain
Tax Effects from Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income (“ASU 2018-02”), which allows for an
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optional reclassification from accumulated other comprehensive income to retained earnings for stranded tax effects resulting from the U.S. Tax Cuts and
Jobs Act (the "Act"), which was signed into law on December 22, 2017. Consequently, the amendments eliminated the stranded tax effects resulting from
the Act for those entities that elect the optional reclassification. ASU 2018-02 is effective for all entities for interim and annual periods beginning after
December 15, 2018. We adopted ASU 2018-02 in the first quarter of 2019, which resulted in a reclassification of stranded tax effects of $16.2 million from
accumulated other comprehensive loss to accumulated deficit.
The Act includes a number of provisions, including the lowering of the U.S. corporate tax rate from 35 percent to 21 percent, effective January 1,
2018. The Act limits our U.S. interest expense deductions to approximately 30 percent of EBITDA through December 31, 2021 and approximately 30
percent of earnings before net interest and taxes thereafter. The Act also introduced a new minimum tax, the Base Erosion Anti-Abuse Tax (“BEAT”). We
are treating the BEAT as a period cost.
Effective January 1, 2019, the Luxembourg corporate tax rate decreased from 26.01% to 24.94%. This resulted in a decrease in deferred tax assets and
corresponding valuation allowance.
The Company recognized the income tax effects of the Act in its 2017 financial statements in accordance with Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 118,
which provides SEC staff guidance for the application of ASC 740, Income Taxes, in the reporting period in which the Act was signed into law.
The Company measures deferred tax assets and liabilities using enacted tax rates that will apply in the years in which the temporary differences are
expected to be recovered or paid. Accordingly, the Company’s U.S. deferred tax assets and liabilities were remeasured to reflect the reduction in the U.S.
corporate income tax rate from 35 percent to 21 percent, resulting in a $28.0 million decrease in net deferred tax liabilities as of December 31, 2017.
On July 2, 2018, we implemented a series of internal transactions and related steps that reorganized the ownership of certain assets among our
subsidiaries (the “2018 Internal Reorganization”). The 2018 Internal Reorganization resulted in the majority of our operations being owned by a U.S.-based
partnership, with certain of our wholly-owned Luxembourg and U.S. subsidiaries as partners.
In response to the COVID-19 pandemic, on March 18, 2020, the Families First Coronavirus Response Act (the “FFCR Act”) was enacted, and on
March 27, 2020, the Coronavirus Aid, Relief, and Economic Security Act (the “CARES Act”) was enacted. The FFCR Act and the CARES Act contain
numerous income tax provisions, such as increasing the 30 percent adjusted taxable income threshold to 50 percent for taxable years beginning in 2019 and
2020 for purposes of determining allowable business interest expense deductions. In addition, the CARES Act repeals the 80 percent limitation for taxable
years beginning before January 1, 2021 (enacted by the Act) and it further specifies that net operating losses arising in a taxable year beginning after
December 31, 2017, and before January 1, 2021, are allowed as a carryback to each of the five taxable years preceding the taxable year of such losses.
Modifications to the tax rules for the carryback of net operating losses and business interest limitations resulted in a federal tax refund of approximately
$8.1 million for the three months ended March 31, 2020.
The majority of our operations are located in taxable jurisdictions, including Luxembourg, the U.S. and the United Kingdom (“UK”). Due to our
cumulative losses in recent years, and the inherent uncertainty associated with the realization of taxable income in the foreseeable future, we recorded a full
valuation allowance against the cumulative net operating losses generated in Luxembourg. The difference between tax expense (benefit) reported in the
condensed consolidated statements of operations and tax computed at statutory rates is attributable to the valuation allowance on losses generated in
Luxembourg, the provision for foreign taxes, which were principally in the U.S. as a result of the final BEAT regulations and the UK, as well as
withholding taxes on revenue earned in some of the foreign markets in which we operate, offset by the tax benefit resulting from the impacts of the CARES
Act.
As of both December 31, 2019 and March 31, 2020, our gross unrecognized tax benefits were $25.0 million (including interest and penalties), of
which $21.5 million, if recognized, would affect our effective tax rate. As of December 31, 2019 and March 31, 2020, we had recorded reserves for interest
and penalties in the amount of $0.6 million and less than $0.1 million, respectively. We continue to recognize interest and, to the extent applicable,
penalties with respect to the unrecognized tax benefits as income tax expense. Since December 31, 2019, the change in the balance of unrecognized tax
benefits has consisted of an increase of $0.1 million related to current tax positions and a nominal decrease related to prior tax positions.
We operate in various taxable jurisdictions throughout the world, and our tax returns are subject to audit and review from time to time. We consider
Luxembourg, the U.S., the UK and Brazil to be our significant tax jurisdictions. Our Luxembourg, U.S., UK and Brazilian subsidiaries are subject to
income tax examination for periods after December 31, 2014. Within the next twelve months, we believe that there are no jurisdictions in which the
outcome of unresolved tax issues or claims is likely to be material to our results of operations, financial position or cash flows.
During 2019, the Company made payments to the government of India in the amount of $7.0 million with respect to ongoing administrative
proceedings. We believe it is more likely than not that the positions which we have presented in these matters will result in a favorable outcome for the
Company. As a result, the payments have been recorded in taxes receivable.
Effective January 31, 2020, the UK formally exited the European Union ("EU"). As a result of the withdrawal, existing tax reliefs and exemptions on
intra-European transactions will likely cease to apply to transactions between UK entities and EU entities. In
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addition, transactions with non-EU countries, such as the U.S., may also be affected. As of March 31, 2020, all relevant tax laws and treaties remained
unchanged and the tax consequences were unknown. Therefore, we have not recognized any impacts of the withdrawal in the income tax provision as of
March 31, 2020. We will recognize any impacts to the tax provision when changes in tax laws or treaties between the UK and the EU or individual EU
member states are enacted.
On December 2, 2019, the U.S. Department of Treasury and the U.S. Internal Revenue Service released final regulations with respect to BEAT as
enacted by the 2017 Tax Reform Act. These regulations represent the final version of proposed regulations which were released in December 2018. The
BEAT is a minimum tax established by the Act that subjects certain payments made by U.S. corporations or subsidiaries to foreign related parties to a
secondary federal income tax regime in the U.S. The final regulations clarify which taxpayers are subject to the BEAT and how the BEAT rules apply to
certain payments and transactions. We have adopted the final BEAT regulations as of the release date. These regulations are effective for the Company as
of its tax year ended December 31, 2018. The Company included the impact of BEAT tax expense for the final regulations related to both the 2018 and
2019 tax years in the fourth quarter of 2019.
Note 13 Commitments and Contingencies
We are subject to litigation in the ordinary course of business. Management does not believe that the resolution of any of those pending proceedings
would have a material adverse effect on our financial position or results of operations.
On May 13, 2020, the Company and certain of its subsidiaries filed voluntary petitions for relief under Chapter 11 of the Bankruptcy Code in
Bankruptcy Court. As a result of such bankruptcy filings, substantially all proceedings pending against the Debtors have been stayed.
Note 14 Related Party Transactions
(a) Shareholders’ Agreements
Certain shareholders of Intelsat Global S.A. entered into shareholders’ agreements on February 4, 2008. The shareholders’ agreements were assigned
to Intelsat S.A. by amendments effective as of March 30, 2012 in connection with our initial public offering (the "IPO") in April 2013, and then terminated
in December 2018 and replaced by a new agreement. The new shareholders agreement provides, among other things, specific rights to and limitations upon
the holders of Intelsat S.A.’s share capital with respect to shares held by such holders.
(b) Governance Agreement
Prior to the consummation of the IPO, we entered into a governance agreement with our shareholder affiliated with BC Partners (the “BC
Shareholder”), our shareholder affiliated with Silver Lake (the “Silver Lake Shareholder”) and David McGlade, our Non-Executive Chairman. This
agreement was terminated in December 2018 and replaced with a new agreement between the BC Shareholder and the Company, containing provisions
relating to the composition of our board of directors and certain other matters.
(c) Indemnification Agreements
We have entered into agreements with our executive officers and directors to provide contractual indemnification in addition to the indemnification
provided for in our articles of incorporation.
(d) Horizons Holdings
We have a 50% ownership interest in Horizons Holdings as a result of a joint venture with JSAT (see Note 8(a)—Investments—Horizons Holdings).
(e) Horizons-3 Satellite LLC
We have a 50% ownership interest in Horizons 3 as a result of a joint venture with JSAT (see Note 8(b)—Investments—Horizons-3 Satellite LLC).
Note 15 Subsequent Events
Voluntary Reorganization under Chapter 11
On May 13, 2020, the Debtors (as defined in Note 1—General above) voluntarily commenced the Chapter 11 Cases under the Bankruptcy Code in the
Bankruptcy Court. Primary factors causing the filing for Chapter 11 protection included the Company’s intention to participate in the accelerated clearing
process of C-band spectrum set forth in the FCC’s final order on the topic, requiring
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the Company to incur significant costs now related to clearing activities well in advance of receiving reimbursement for such costs, as well as the economic
slowdown impacting the Company and several of its end markets due to COVID-19. On May 26, 2020, the Company filed a written commitment with the
FCC to accelerate clearing of the C-band spectrum in the U.S.
The Chapter 11 process can be unpredictable and involves significant risks and uncertainties. The Debtors have received initial approval from the
Bankruptcy Court to maintain business-as-usual operations and uphold their respective commitments to their stakeholders, including employees, customers,
and vendors, during the restructuring process, subject to the jurisdiction of the Bankruptcy Court and in accordance with the applicable provisions of the
Bankruptcy Code.
While the Chapter 11 Cases are pending, the Debtors do not anticipate making interest payments due under their respective unsecured debt
instruments; however, the Debtors expect to pay all interest payments in full as they come due under their respective senior secured debt instruments.
During the year ended December 31, 2019, the total aggregate amount of interest paid pursuant to our unsecured debt instruments was $768.2 million, and
for the three months ended March 31, 2020 was $146.5 million. The total aggregate amount of interest payments due under our unsecured debt instruments
for the remainder of 2020 which we do not expect to pay is $638.9 million.
In addition, prior to the commencement of the Chapter 11 Cases, the Company entered into the Commitment Letter with the Commitment Parties,
pursuant to which, and subject to the satisfaction of certain customary conditions, including the approval of the Bankruptcy Court, the Commitment Parties
have agreed to backstop the DIP Facility, in an aggregate principal amount of $1.0 billion.
Notice of Delisting
On May 20, 2020, the New York Stock Exchange (“NYSE”) filed a Form 25 with the SEC to delist the Company’s common shares, $0.01 par value
from the NYSE. The delisting became effective 10 days after the Form 25 was filed. The deregistration of the common shares under Section 12(b) of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”) will become effective 90 days after the filing date of the Form 25, at which point the
common shares will be deemed registered under Section 12(g) of the Exchange Act. The Company’s common shares began trading on the OTC Pink
Marketplace on May 19, 2020 under the symbol “INTEQ.”
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Item 2. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations
The following discussion should be read in conjunction with our unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements and their notes included in
Item 1—Financial Statements in this Quarterly Report. See “Forward-Looking Statements” and Item 1A—Risk Factors, for a discussion of factors that
could cause our future financial condition and results of operations to be different from those discussed below.
The Company is relying on the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission’s (the “SEC”) March 25, 2020 Order pursuant to Section 36 of the
Exchange Act (Release No. 34-88465) (the “Order”) in delaying the filing of this Quarterly Report for the three months ended March 31, 2020, due to
circumstances related to the novel coronavirus (“COVID-19”) pandemic. In particular, COVID-19 has caused limited access to the Company’s facilities
and disrupted its normal interactions with its accounting personnel, legal advisors, auditors and others involved in the preparation of this Quarterly
Report. The filing of this Quarterly Report on the date hereof will be considered a timely filing under the Order.
Overview
We operate one of the world’s largest satellite services businesses, providing a critical layer in the global communications infrastructure.
We provide diversified communications services to the world’s leading media companies, fixed and wireless telecommunications operators, data
networking service providers for enterprise and mobile applications in the air and on the seas, multinational corporations and internet service providers. We
are also the leading provider of commercial satellite capacity to the United States (“U.S.”) government and other select military organizations and their
contractors.
Our customers use our global network for a broad range of applications, from global distribution of content for media companies to providing the
transmission layer for commercial aeronautical consumer broadband connectivity, to enabling essential network backbones for telecommunications
providers in high-growth emerging regions.
Our network solutions are a critical component of our customers’ infrastructures and business models. Generally, our customers need the specialized
connectivity that satellites provide so long as they are in business or pursuing their mission. In recent years, mobility services providers have contracted for
services on our fleet that support broadband connections for passengers on commercial flights and cruise ships, connectivity that in some cases is only
available through our network. In addition, our satellite neighborhoods provide our media customers with efficient and reliable broadcast distribution that
maximizes audience reach, a technical and economic benefit that is difficult for terrestrial services to match. In developing regions, our satellite solutions
often provide higher reliability than is available from local terrestrial telecommunications services and allow our customers to reach geographies that they
would otherwise be unable to serve.
Recent Developments
Voluntary Reorganization under Chapter 11
On May 13, 2020, the Company and certain of its subsidiaries (each, a “Debtor”) commenced voluntary cases (the “Chapter 11 Cases”) under Chapter
11 of the United States Bankruptcy Code (the “Bankruptcy Code”) in the United States Bankruptcy Court for the Eastern District of Virginia (the
“Bankruptcy Court”). Primary factors causing us to file for Chapter 11 protection included the Company’s intention to participate in the accelerated
clearing process of C-band spectrum set forth in the U.S. Federal Communications Commission’s (“FCC”) final order on the topic, requiring the Company
to incur significant costs now related to clearing activities well in advance of receiving reimbursement for such costs, as well as the economic slowdown
impacting the Company and several of its end markets due to COVID-19. On May 26, 2020, the Company filed a written commitment with the FCC to
accelerate clearing of the C-band spectrum in the U.S.
The Chapter 11 process can be unpredictable and involves significant risks and uncertainties. As a result of these risks and uncertainties, the amount
and composition of the Company’s assets, liabilities, officers and/or directors could be significantly different following the outcome of the Chapter 11
cases, and the description of the Company’s operations, properties and liquidity and capital resources included in this Quarterly Report may not accurately
reflect its operations, properties and liquidity and capital resources following the Chapter 11 process. For additional information regarding such risks, see
Part II—Item 1A—Risk Factors.
The Debtors have received initial approval from the Bankruptcy Court to maintain business-as-usual operations and uphold their respective
commitments to their stakeholders, including employees, customers, and vendors, during the restructuring process, subject to the jurisdiction of the
Bankruptcy Court and in accordance with the applicable provisions of the Bankruptcy Code. While the Chapter 11 Cases are pending, the Debtors do not
anticipate making interest payments due under their respective unsecured debt instruments; however, the Debtors expect to pay all interest payments in full
as they come due under their respective senior secured debt instruments. During the year ended December 31, 2019, the total aggregate amount of interest
paid pursuant to our unsecured debt instruments was $768.2 million, and for the three months ended March 31, 2020 was $146.5 million. The total
aggregate amount
31

of interest payments due under our unsecured debt instruments for the remainder of 2020 which we do not expect to pay is $638.9 million.
In addition, prior to the commencement of the Chapter 11 Cases, the Company entered into a commitment letter (the “Commitment Letter”) with
certain parties (the “Commitment Parties”), pursuant to which, and subject to the satisfaction of certain customary conditions, including the approval of the
Bankruptcy Court, the Commitment Parties have agreed to backstop a non-amortizing multiple draw super-priority senior secured debtor-in-possession
term loan facility (the “DIP Facility”), in an aggregate principal amount of $1.0 billion. For additional discussion regarding risks related to the DIP Facility,
see Part II—Item 1A—Risk Factors.
Update on the Effects of COVID-19
The COVID-19 pandemic has had an adverse impact on our business, operating results and financial condition, a trend we expect to continue. Among
the impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic were a reduction of revenue and a decreased likelihood of collection from certain mobility customers. We continue
to closely monitor the ongoing impact on our employees, customers, business and results of operations. For additional information regarding the risks
associated with COVID-19, see Part II—Item 1A—Risk Factors.
A. Results of Operations
Three Months Ended March 31, 2019 and 2020
The following table sets forth our comparative statements of operations for the periods shown with the increase (decrease) and percentage changes,
except those deemed not meaningful (“NM”), between the periods presented (in thousands, except percentages):
Three Months Ended
March 31, 2019

Revenue

$

528,449

Three Months Ended
March 31, 2020

$

458,820

Increase
(Decrease)

$

Percentage
Change

(69,629)

(13)%

Operating expenses:
Direct costs of revenue (excluding depreciation and amortization)

105,405

Selling, general and administrative
Depreciation and amortization
Impairment of non-amortizable intangible assets
Total operating expenses

105,085

(320)

—%

51,658

80,967

29,309

57%

171,094

163,048

(8,046)

(5)%

—

12,200

12,200

NM

328,157

361,300

33,143

10%

Income from operations

200,292

97,520

(102,772)

Interest expense, net

316,602

318,329

1,727

1%

1,413

2,735

1,322

94

(114,897)

(218,074)

103,177

(90)%

5,145

141

(5,004)

(97)%

(120,042)

(218,215)

98,173

(82)%

(580)

(556)

24

(4)%

98,149

(81)%

Other income, net
Loss before income taxes
Provision for income taxes
Net loss
Net income attributable to noncontrolling interest
Net loss attributable to Intelsat S.A.

$

(120,622)

$

(218,771)

$

(51)%

Revenue
We earn revenue primarily by providing services to our customers using our satellite transponder capacity. Our customers generally obtain satellite
capacity from us by placing an order pursuant to one of several master customer service agreements. On-network services are comprised primarily of
services delivered on our owned network infrastructure, as well as commitments for third-party capacity, generally long-term in nature, which we integrate
and market as part of our owned infrastructure. In the case of third-party services in support of government applications, the commitments for third-party
capacity are shorter and matched to the government contracting period, and thus remain classified as off-network services. Off-network services can
include transponder services and other satellite-based transmission services, such as mobile satellite services (“MSS”), which are sourced from other
operators, often in frequencies not available on our network. Under the category Off-Network and Other Revenues, we also include revenues from
consulting and other services.
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The following table sets forth our comparative revenue by service type, with Off-Network and Other Revenues shown separately from On-Network
Revenues, for the periods below (in thousands, except percentages):
Three Months Ended
March 31, 2019

Three Months Ended
March 31, 2020

Increase
(Decrease)

Percentage
Change

On-Network Revenues
Transponder services

$

377,284

Managed services

$

93,201

Channel
Total on-network revenues

331,334

$

72,261

(45,950)

(12)%

(20,940)

(22)

691

426

(265)

(38)

471,176

404,021

(67,155)

(14)

49,858

43,688

(6,170)

(12)

7,415

11,111

3,696

50

Off-Network and Other Revenues
Transponder, MSS and other off-network services
Satellite-related services
Total off-network and other revenues
Total

57,273
$

528,449

54,799
$

458,820

$

(2,474)

(4)

(69,629)

(13)%

Total revenue for the three months ended March 31, 2020 decreased by $69.6 million, or 13%, as compared to the three months ended March 31,
2019. By service type, our revenues increased or decreased due to the following:
On-Network Revenues:

•

Transponder services—an aggregate decrease of $46.0 million, primarily due to a $32.1 million decrease in revenue from network services
customers, a $12.3 million decrease in revenue from media customers, and a $1.5 million decrease in revenue from government customers.
The decline from network services customers was primarily due to non-renewals, renewals at lower pricing or lower capacity, service
contractions for enterprise and wireless infrastructure applications, the termination of a network services contract, and approximately $5.0
million in lost revenue resulting from the loss of Intelsat 29e, a portion of which services were restored with off-network services. These
declines were partially offset by increased revenues from customers for telecommunications infrastructure in the Asia-Pacific region. The
decline from media customers was primarily due to non-renewals, renewals at lower pricing or lower capacity and service contractions for
distribution services in the Latin America, North America and Africa regions.

•

Managed services—an aggregate decrease of $20.9 million, primarily due to a $12.1 million decrease in revenue from network services
customers, a $7.5 million decrease in revenue from media customers, and a $1.3 million decrease in revenue from government customers. The
decrease from network services customers was mainly driven by declines for mobility broadband solutions and trunking applications,
primarily due to the termination of a network services contract, and approximately $4.3 million in lost revenue resulting from the loss of
Intelsat 29e, a portion of which services were restored with off-network services. These declines were partially offset by increased revenues
from maritime mobility services. The decrease in revenue from media customers was mainly related to termination of a managed video
service contract and a decrease in occasional use services.

Off-Network and Other Revenues:
•

Transponder, MSS and other off-network services—an aggregate decrease of $6.2 million, primarily due to $14.3 million of revenue
recognized in the first quarter of 2019 from a network services customer accounted for as a sales-type lease under ASC 842, Leases ("ASC
842"), with no comparable amount in 2020, partially offset by an increase of $4.6 million in revenue from network services customers largely
due to the restoration of certain Intelsat 29e services to off-network capacity and a $4.6 million increase in revenue from government
customers.

•

Satellite-related services—an aggregate increase of $3.7 million, reflecting increased revenues from professional services supporting thirdparty satellites.

Operating Expenses
Direct Costs of Revenue (Excluding Depreciation and Amortization)
Direct costs of revenue decreased by $0.3 million, to $105.1 million for the three months ended March 31, 2020, as compared to the three months
ended March 31, 2019. The decrease was primarily due to nominal fluctuations in earth station, staff-related and operational expenses.
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Selling, General and Administrative
Selling, general and administrative expenses increased by $29.3 million, or 57%, to $81.0 million for the three months ended March 31, 2020, as
compared to the three months ended March 31, 2019. The increase was primarily due to a $19.5 million increase in bad debt expense, largely relating to a
certain customer that filed for Chapter 11 bankruptcy protection, and a $4.7 million increase in professional fees. The remaining increase was driven by
increases in other miscellaneous operating costs.
Depreciation and Amortization
Depreciation and amortization expense decreased by $8.0 million, or 5%, to $163.0 million for the three months ended March 31, 2020, as compared
to the three months ended March 31, 2019. Significant items impacting depreciation and amortization included:
•

a decrease of $9.2 million in depreciation expense due to the write-off of Intelsat 29e; and

•

a decrease of $4.7 million in depreciation expense due to the timing of a satellite becoming fully depreciated; partially offset by

•

an increase of $4.7 million in depreciation expense resulting from the impact of a satellite placed in service; and

•

an increase of $1.2 million in depreciation expense due to the impact of certain ground segment assets placed in service.

Impairment of Non-Amortizable Intangible Assets
We recognized an impairment charge of $12.2 million for the three months ended March 31, 2020 relating to the Intelsat trade name intangible asset.
No comparable amounts were recognized for the three months ended March 31, 2019. See Item 1, Note 9—Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets for
further discussion.
Interest Expense, Net
Interest expense, net consists of gross interest expense incurred together with gains and losses on interest rate cap contracts (which reflect the change
in their fair value), offset by interest income earned and interest capitalized related to assets under construction. As of March 31, 2020, we held interest rate
cap contracts with an aggregate notional amount of $2.4 billion to mitigate the risk of interest rate increases on the floating-rate term loans under our senior
secured credit facilities. The contracts have not been designated as hedges for accounting purposes.
Interest expense, net increased by $1.7 million, or 1%, to $318.3 million for the three months ended March 31, 2020, as compared to the three months
ended March 31, 2019. The increase in interest expense, net was principally due to the following:
•

an increase of $7.3 million primarily resulting from our incremental debt raise in 2019; and

•

an increase of $4.6 million due to lower capitalized interest primarily resulting from decreased levels of satellites and related assets under
construction; partially offset by

•

a decrease of $8.3 million corresponding to a larger decrease in fair value of the interest rate cap contracts during the three months ended
March 31, 2019 as compared to the three months ended March 31, 2020.

The non-cash portion of total interest expense, net was $39.6 million for the three months ended March 31, 2020, primarily consisting of interest
expense related to the significant financing component identified in customer contracts, amortization and accretion of discounts and premiums,
amortization of deferred financing fees and the loss resulting from the decrease in fair value of the interest rate cap contracts we hold.
Other Income, Net
Other income, net was $2.7 million for the three months ended March 31, 2020, as compared to $1.4 million for the three months ended March 31,
2019. The increase in other income, net for the three months ended March 31, 2020 primarily resulted from a $6.0 million gain on sale of assets, partially
offset by increased foreign currency losses of $4.3 million largely related to our business conducted in Brazilian reais.
Provision for Income Taxes
Income tax expense decreased by $5.0 million, or 97%, to $0.1 million for the three months ended March 31, 2020, as compared to the three months
ended March 31, 2019. The decrease was principally attributable to the impact of the Coronavirus Aid, Relief, and Economic Security Act, enacted on
March 27, 2020, with regards to the relaxed limitations on the deductibility of interest and the use of net operating losses arising in taxable years beginning
after December 31, 2017.
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Cash paid for income taxes, net of refunds, totaled $1.9 million and $1.0 million for the three months ended March 31, 2019 and 2020, respectively.
Net Loss Attributable to Intelsat S.A.
Net loss attributable to Intelsat S.A. was $218.8 million for the three months ended March 31, 2020, as compared to net loss attributable to Intelsat
S.A. of $120.6 million for the three months ended March 31, 2019. The change reflects the various items discussed above.
EBITDA
EBITDA consists of earnings before net interest, loss (gain) on early extinguishment of debt, taxes and depreciation and amortization. Given our high
level of leverage, refinancing activities are a frequent part of our efforts to manage our costs of borrowing. Accordingly, we consider loss (gain) on early
extinguishment of debt an element of interest expense. EBITDA is a measure commonly used in the fixed satellite services ("FSS") sector, and we present
EBITDA to enhance the understanding of our operating performance. We use EBITDA as one criterion for evaluating our performance relative to that of
our peers. We believe that EBITDA is an operating performance measure, and not a liquidity measure, that provides investors and analysts with a measure
of operating results unaffected by differences in capital structures, capital investment cycles and ages of related assets among otherwise comparable
companies. However, EBITDA is not a measure of financial performance under U.S. GAAP, and our EBITDA may not be comparable to similarly titled
measures of other companies. EBITDA should not be considered as an alternative to operating income (loss) or net income (loss) determined in accordance
with U.S. GAAP, as an indicator of our operating performance, or as an alternative to cash flows from operating activities determined in accordance with
U.S. GAAP, as an indicator of cash flows, or as a measure of liquidity.
A reconciliation of net loss to EBITDA for the periods shown is as follows (in thousands):
Three Months Ended
March 31, 2019

Net loss

$

(120,042)

Three Months Ended
March 31, 2020

$

(218,215)

Add:
Interest expense, net

316,602

Provision for income taxes
Depreciation and amortization
EBITDA

$

318,329

5,145

141

171,094

163,048

372,799

$

263,303

Adjusted EBITDA
In addition to EBITDA, we calculate a measure called Adjusted EBITDA to assess the operating performance of Intelsat S.A. Adjusted EBITDA
consists of EBITDA of Intelsat S.A. as adjusted to exclude or include certain unusual items, certain other operating expense items and certain other
adjustments as described in the table and related footnotes below. Our management believes that the presentation of Adjusted EBITDA provides useful
information to investors, lenders and financial analysts regarding our financial condition and results of operations because it permits clearer comparability
of our operating performance between periods. By excluding the potential volatility related to the timing and extent of non-operating activities, such as
impairments of asset value and other non-recurring items, our management believes that Adjusted EBITDA provides a useful means of evaluating the
success of our operating activities. We also use Adjusted EBITDA, together with other appropriate metrics, to set goals for and measure the operating
performance of our business, and it is one of the principal measures we use to evaluate our management’s performance in determining compensation under
our incentive compensation plans. Adjusted EBITDA measures have been used historically by investors, lenders and financial analysts to estimate the
value of a company, to make informed investment decisions and to evaluate performance. Our management believes that the inclusion of Adjusted
EBITDA facilitates comparison of our results with those of companies having different capital structures.
Adjusted EBITDA is not a measure of financial performance under U.S. GAAP and may not be comparable to similarly titled measures of other
companies. Adjusted EBITDA should not be considered as an alternative to operating income (loss) or net income (loss) determined in accordance with
U.S. GAAP, as an indicator of our operating performance, as an alternative to cash flows from operating activities determined in accordance with U.S.
GAAP, as an indicator of cash flows, or as a measure of liquidity.
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A reconciliation of net loss to EBITDA and EBITDA to Adjusted EBITDA is as follows (in thousands):
Three Months Ended
March 31, 2019

Net loss

$

(120,042)

Three Months Ended
March 31, 2020

$

(218,215)

Add:
Interest expense, net
Provision for income taxes
Depreciation and amortization
EBITDA
Add:
Compensation and benefits(1)

316,602

318,329

5,145

141

171,094

163,048

372,799

263,303

2,707

3,706

4,774

10,899

Impairment of non-amortizable intangible assets(3)

—

12,200

Proportionate share from unconsolidated joint venture(4):
Interest expense, net

—

1,080

—

2,815

Non-recurring and other non-cash items(2)

Depreciation and amortization
Adjusted EBITDA(5)(6)

$

380,280

$

294,003

(1)

Reflects non-cash expenses incurred relating to our equity compensation plans.

(2)

Reflects certain non-recurring expenses, gains and losses and non-cash items, including the following: professional fees related to our liability,
business strategy and tax management initiatives; costs associated with our C-band spectrum proposal; severance, retention and relocation
payments; changes in fair value of certain investments; certain foreign exchange gains and losses; and other various non-recurring expenses. For
the three months ended March 31, 2019, these costs were partially offset by non-cash income related to the recognition of deferred revenue on a
straight-line basis for certain prepaid capacity service contracts.

(3)

Reflects a non-cash impairment charge recorded in connection with the trade name impairment. See Item 1, Note 9—Goodwill and Other
Intangible Assets.

(4)

Reflects adjustments related to our interest in Horizons-3 Satellite LLC ("Horizons 3"). See Item 1, Note 8(b)—Investments—Horizons-3 Satellite
LLC.

(5)

For the three months ended March 31, 2019 and 2020, Adjusted EBITDA included $25.1 million and $26.1 million, respectively, of revenue
relating to the significant financing component identified in customer contracts in accordance with the adoption of ASC 606. These impacts are
not permitted to be reflected in the applicable consolidated and Adjusted EBITDA definitions under our debt agreements.

(6)

For the three months ended March 31, 2019 and 2020, Intelsat S.A. Adjusted EBITDA reflected ($3.5 million) and $4.7 million, respectively, of
Adjusted EBITDA attributable to Intelsat Horizons-3 LLC, its subsidiaries and its proportionate share of Horizons 3. These entities are considered
to be unrestricted subsidiaries under the definitions set forth in our applicable debt agreements.

B. Liquidity and Capital Resources
Overview
We are a highly leveraged company and our contractual obligations, commitments and debt service requirements over the next several years are
significant. At March 31, 2020, the aggregate principal amount of our debt outstanding not held by affiliates was $14.7 billion. Our interest expense, net for
the three months ended March 31, 2020 was $318.3 million, which included $39.6 million of non-cash interest expense. At March 31, 2020, cash, cash
equivalents and restricted cash were approximately $800.6 million. In past years, our cash flows from operations and cash on hand have been sufficient to
fund interest obligations ($1.1 billion in each of the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2019).
The commencement of the Chapter 11 Cases accelerated substantially all of our outstanding debt. Any efforts to enforce payment obligations related
to the acceleration of our debt have been automatically stayed as a result of the filing of the Chapter 11 Cases, and the creditors’ rights of enforcement are
subject to the applicable provisions of the Bankruptcy Code.
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During the pendency of the Chapter 11 Cases, as discussed above in —Recent Developments, Voluntary Reorganization under Chapter 11, we expect
cash payments on our interest obligations to be lower than in prior years. In past years, our cash flows from operations and cash on hand have been
sufficient to fund significant capital expenditures ($255.7 million and $229.8 million for the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2019, respectively).
However, as discussed above in —Recent Developments, Voluntary Reorganization under Chapter 11, our ability to fund operating expenses in the
ordinary course is now, to some extent, subject to obtaining certain approvals from the Bankruptcy Court in connection with our Chapter 11 proceedings.
A significant factor driving the Company’s decision to file for Chapter 11 protection was the Company’s desire to participate in the FCC’s process for
accelerated clearing of the C-band spectrum, for which we need to incur significant upfront expenses for clearing activities well in advance of receiving
reimbursement payments. On May 26, 2020, the Company filed a written commitment with the FCC to accelerate clearing of the C-band spectrum in the
U.S. In addition to the significant capital expenditures we expect to make in 2020 and beyond, we expect total clearing costs will be approximately $1.6
billion over the next two to three years. Our primary source of liquidity is and will continue to be cash generated from operations, as well as existing cash.
Also, as noted above in —Recent Developments, Voluntary Reorganization under Chapter 11, we have secured a commitment for a DIP Facility in an
aggregate principal amount of $1.0 billion, subject to the satisfaction of certain customary conditions, including approval of the Bankruptcy Court. We
currently expect to use cash on hand, cash flows from operations and borrowings under our DIP Facility to fund our most significant cash outlays,
including debt service requirements and capital expenditures, in the next twelve months and beyond. We also expect to receive reimbursement payments
for certain upfront C-band spectrum clearing expenses incurred, as discussed above. For additional discussion regarding risks related to the Chapter 11
process and DIP Facility, see Part II—Item 1A—Risk Factors.
Cash Flow Items
Our cash flows consisted of the following for the periods shown (in thousands):
Three Months Ended
March 31, 2019

Net cash provided by operating activities

$

117,334

Three Months Ended
March 31, 2020

$

14,277

Net cash used in investing activities

(103,635)

(32,827)

Net cash used in financing activities

(8,655)

(9,685)

4,601

(30,242)

Net change in cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash
Net Cash Provided by Operating Activities

Net cash provided by operating activities decreased by $103.1 million to $14.3 million for the three months ended March 31, 2020, as compared to
the three months ended March 31, 2019. The decrease was primarily due to a $81.7 million increase in net loss and changes in non-cash items and a $21.3
million decrease from changes in operating assets and liabilities. The decrease in operating assets and liabilities was primarily due to lower inflows from
customer receivables and higher outflows related to the timing of interest payments, partially offset by higher inflows in prepaid expenses, contract and
other assets.
Net Cash Used in Investing Activities
Net cash used in investing activities decreased by $70.8 million to $32.8 million for the three months ended March 31, 2020, as compared to the three
months ended March 31, 2019. The decrease was primarily due to lower capital expenditures and origination of loans held-for-investment, as well as higher
other proceeds from satellites.
Net Cash Used in Financing Activities
Net cash used in financing activities increased by $1.0 million to $9.7 million for the three months ended March 31, 2020, as compared to the three
months ended March 31, 2019. The increase was primarily due to higher payments related to satellite performance incentives.
Restricted Cash
As of March 31, 2020, $18.1 million of cash was legally restricted, being held as a compensating balance for certain outstanding letters of credit.
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Debt
Intelsat Jackson Senior Secured Credit Agreement and the Company and Certain of its Subsidiaries' Indentures
The commencement of the Chapter 11 Cases constituted an immediate event of default under Intelsat Jackson’s secured credit agreement, dated as of
January 12, 2011 (as amended, the “Intelsat Jackson Secured Credit Agreement”), as well as under the indentures governing certain of the Company and its
subsidiaries’ senior secured notes and senior notes, resulting in the automatic and immediate acceleration of substantially all of our outstanding debt. Any
efforts to enforce payment obligations related to the acceleration of our debt have been automatically stayed as a result of the filing of the Chapter 11
Cases, and the creditors’ rights of enforcement are subject to the applicable provisions of the Bankruptcy Code. For additional discussion regarding our
debt, see Part II—Item 3—Defaults upon Senior Securities.
In addition, on April 27, 2020, our London Inter-Bank Offered Rate (“LIBOR”) loans under the Intelsat Jackson Secured Credit Agreement were
converted to Alternate Base Rate (“ABR”) loans. We expect to pay interest on the floating rate term loans under the Intelsat Jackson Secured Credit
Agreement at the rate applicable to ABR loans.
Debtor-in-Possession Financing Commitment
Prior to the commencement of the Chapter 11 Cases, Intelsat Jackson entered into a Commitment Letter with the Commitment Parties, pursuant to
which, and subject to the satisfaction of certain customary conditions, including the approval of the Bankruptcy Court, the Commitment Parties have
agreed to backstop the DIP Facility, in an aggregate principal amount of $1.0 billion. For additional discussion regarding risks related to the DIP Facility,
please see Part II—Item 1A—Risk Factors.
Contracted Backlog
We have historically had, and currently have, a substantial contracted backlog, which provides some assurance regarding our future revenue
expectations. Contracted backlog is our expected future revenue under customer contracts and includes both cancelable and non-cancelable contracts.
Approximately 88% of our total contracted backlog as of March 31, 2020 related to contracts that were non-cancelable and approximately 11% related to
contracts that were cancelable subject to substantial termination fees. In certain cases of breach for non-payment or customer bankruptcy, we may not be
able to recover the full value of certain contracts or termination fees. Our contracted backlog as of March 31, 2020 was approximately $6.6 billion. We
believe this backlog and associated revenues result in more predictable cash flows in the FSS sector as compared to that of typical companies outside our
industry.
Capital Expenditures
Our capital expenditures depend on our business strategies and reflect our commercial responses to opportunities and trends in our industry. Our
actual capital expenditures may differ from our expected capital expenditures if, among other things, we enter into any currently unplanned strategic
transactions. Levels of capital spending from one year to the next are also influenced by the nature of the satellite life cycle and by the capital-intensive
nature of the satellite industry. For example, we incur significant capital expenditures during the years in which satellites are under construction. We
typically procure a new satellite within a timeframe that would allow the satellite to be deployed at least one year prior to the end of the service life of the
satellite to be replaced. As a result, we frequently experience significant variances in our capital expenditures from year to year. Further, following the
Company’s announcement on May 26, 2020 to opt into the FCC’s process for accelerated clearing of the C-band spectrum, we expect to incur significant
upfront expenses for clearing activities well in advance of receiving reimbursement payments. Payments for satellites and other property and equipment for
the three months ended March 31, 2020 were $38.0 million.
We intend to fund our capital expenditure requirements from cash on hand, cash provided from operating activities and the DIP Facility; however, our
ability to fund capital expenditures in the ordinary course is, to some extent, subject to obtaining certain approvals from the Bankruptcy Court in
connection with our Chapter 11 proceedings.
Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements
We have revenue sharing agreements with JSAT related to services sold on the Horizons 1, Horizons 2 and Horizons 3 satellites. We are responsible
for billing and collection for such services and we remit 50% of the revenue, less applicable fees and commissions, to JSAT. Refer to Note 8—Investments
for disclosures relating to the revenue sharing agreements with JSAT.
Contractual Obligations
Other than as disclosed elsewhere in this report with respect to the filing of the Chapter 11 Cases and the acceleration of substantially all of our debt
as a result, there have been no material changes outside the ordinary course of business to the information provided with respect to our contractual
obligations as disclosed in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2019.
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Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates
The preparation of these condensed consolidated financial statements in conformity with U.S. GAAP requires management to make estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities as of the date of these condensed consolidated financial statements, the reported
amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting periods, and the disclosures of contingent liabilities.
The Company’s significant accounting policies are described in Note 1—Background and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies in our Annual
Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2019. The Company’s critical accounting estimates are described in Item 7—Management’s
Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2019 and
are further described below.
Asset Impairment Assessments
We account for goodwill and other non-amortizable intangible assets in accordance with ASC 350, Intangibles—Goodwill and Other, and have
deemed these assets to have indefinite lives. Therefore, these assets are not amortized but are tested on an annual basis for impairment during the fourth
quarter, or whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be fully recoverable. We review our long-lived and
amortizable intangible assets to assess whether an impairment has occurred in accordance with the guidance provided under ASC 360—Property, Plant and
Equipment, whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate, in our judgment, that the carrying amount of an asset may not be recoverable.
During the first quarter of 2020, the price of our common shares and trading values of our debt securities experienced sustained reductions. We also
witnessed certain declines in financial performance as compared to previously prepared internal budget and forecast projections. Among the impacts of the
COVID-19 pandemic were a reduction of revenue and a decreased likelihood of collection from certain mobility customers. Based on our examination of
these and other qualitative factors, we concluded that further testing of goodwill and other non-amortizable assets as well as long-lived and amortizable
intangible assets was required.
Goodwill. For the analysis of goodwill, we applied ASU 2017-04, which is further described in Note 1—General. Intelsat has only one reporting unit
for purposes of the analysis of goodwill, and accordingly, the analysis is undertaken at the enterprise level. We determined the estimated fair value of our
reporting unit using a discounted cash flow analysis, along with independent source data related to comparative market multiples and, when available,
recent transactions, each of which is considered a Level 3 input within the fair value hierarchy under ASC 820, Fair Value Measurements and Disclosure
(“ASC 820”). The discounted cash flows were derived from a five-year projection of cash flows plus a residual value, with the resulting projected cash
flows discounted at an appropriate weighted average cost of capital.
In estimating the undiscounted cash flows, we primarily used our internally prepared budgets and forecast information. The key assumptions included
in our model were projected growth rates, cost of capital, effective tax rates, and industry and economic trends, along with the C-band accelerated clearing
incentive payments expected to be received subject to the achievement of certain milestones and the discount rate applied to those cash flows. A change in
estimated future cash flows or other assumptions could change our estimated fair values and result in future impairments. The conclusion of our analysis
was that the fair value of our reporting unit was greater than its carrying value, resulting in no impairment of goodwill.
Orbital Locations. We determined the estimated fair value of our rights to operate at orbital locations by using the build-up method to determine cash
flows for the income approach, with the resulting projected cash flows discounted at an appropriate weighted average cost of capital. Under the build-up
approach, the amount a reasonable investor would be willing to pay for the right to operate a satellite business using orbital locations is calculated by first
estimating the cash flows that typical market participants might assume could be available from the right to operate satellites using the subject location in a
similar market. It is assumed that rather than acquiring such a business as a going concern, the buyer would hypothetically start with the right to operate
satellites at orbital locations and build a new business with similar attributes from the beginning. Thus, the buyer is assumed to incur the start-up costs and
losses typically associated with the going concern value and pay for all other tangible and intangible assets.
The key assumptions used in estimating the fair values of our rights to operate at our orbital locations included the following: (i) market penetration
leading to revenue growth, (ii) profit margin, (iii) duration and profile of the build-up period, (iv) estimated start-up costs and losses incurred during the
build-up period and (v) weighted average cost of capital.
We completed our analysis of the estimated fair value of our rights to operate at certain orbital locations in connection with the analysis of goodwill
described above and concluded that the fair value was greater than the carrying value, resulting in no impairment.
Trade Name. We have implemented the relief from royalty method to determine the estimated fair value of the Intelsat trade name. The relief from
royalty analysis is comprised of two major steps: (i) a determination of the hypothetical royalty rate, and (ii) the subsequent application of the royalty rate
to projected revenue. In determining the hypothetical royalty rate utilized in the relief from royalty approach, we considered comparable license
agreements, an excess earnings analysis to determine aggregate intangible asset earnings, and other qualitative factors, each of which is considered a Level
3 input within the fair value hierarchy under ASC 820.
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The key assumptions used in our model to estimate the fair value of the Intelsat trade name included forecasted revenues, the royalty rate, the tax rate
and the discount rate. We completed our analysis of the estimated fair value of the Intelsat trade name in connection with the analysis of goodwill described
above and it resulted in an impairment of our trade name intangible asset of $12.2 million, which is included within impairment of non-amortizable
intangible assets in the condensed consolidated statements of operations.
Long-Lived and Amortizable Intangible Assets. The Company evaluated the assets for potential impairment using internal projections of undiscounted
cash flows expected to result from the use and eventual disposal of the assets. The key assumptions included in our model were projected growth rates, cost
of capital, effective tax rates, and industry and economic trends. A change in estimated future cash flows or other assumptions could change our estimated
undiscounted cash flows and result in future impairments. The conclusion of our analysis was that the undiscounted cash flows of the asset group was
greater than its carrying value, resulting in no impairment.
Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements
For disclosures related to recently issued accounting pronouncements, see Note 1—General—Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements.
Item 3. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk
We are primarily exposed to the market risk associated with unfavorable movements in interest rates and foreign currencies. The risk inherent in our
market risk sensitive instruments and positions is the potential loss arising from adverse changes in those factors. We do not purchase or hold any
derivative financial instruments for speculative purposes.
Interest Rate Risk
The satellite communications industry is a capital intensive, technology driven business. We are subject to interest rate risk primarily associated with
our borrowings. Interest rate risk is the risk that changes in interest rates could adversely affect earnings and cash flows. Specific risks include the risk of
increasing interest rates on short-term debt, for planned new fixed-rate long-term financings, for planned refinancings using long-term fixed-rate debt, and
for existing variable-rate debt. The Company utilizes derivative instruments from time to time in order to reduce its exposure to the risk of interest-rate
volatility.
Approximately 84% of our debt, or $12.3 billion principal amount, was fixed-rate debt as of both December 31, 2019 and March 31, 2020. While our
fixed-rate debt does not expose us to earnings risk when market interest rates change, such debt is subject to changes in fair value (see Note 10—Debt for
fair value disclosures for our debt). Our sensitivity analyses indicate that based on the level of fixed-rate debt outstanding as of March 31, 2020, a 100 basis
point decrease in market rates would result in an increase in fair value of this fixed-rate debt of approximately $222.1 million. A 100 basis point increase in
market rates would result in a decrease in fair value of this fixed-rate debt of approximately $213.9 million.
While our variable-rate debt may impact earnings and cash flows as interest rates change, it is not subject to changes in fair values. As of March 31,
2020, we held interest rate cap contracts indexed to 1-month LIBOR with a strike rate of 1.89% and an aggregate notional amount of $2.4 billion that
mature in February 2021. These interest rate cap contracts have not been designated for hedge accounting treatment in accordance with ASC 815,
Derivatives and Hedging, and the changes in fair value of these instruments are recognized in earnings during the period of change.
Foreign Currency Risk
We do not currently use material foreign currency derivatives to hedge our foreign currency exposures. There have been no material changes to our
foreign currency exposures as discussed in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2019.
Item 4. Controls and Procedures
Disclosure Controls and Procedures
We have carried out an evaluation, under the supervision and with the participation of our management, including our principal executive officer and
our principal financial officer, of the effectiveness of the design and operation of our disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Rule 13a-15(e) and
15d-15(e) under the Exchange Act), as of the quarter ended March 31, 2020. Based upon that evaluation, our principal executive officer and our principal
financial officer concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures were effective as of March 31, 2020.
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Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting
There were no changes in our internal control over financial reporting for the quarter ended March 31, 2020 that have materially affected, or are
reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.
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PART II. OTHER INFORMATION
Item 1. Legal Proceedings
We are subject to litigation in the ordinary course of business, but management does not believe that the resolution of any pending proceedings would
have a material adverse effect on our financial position or results of operations.
On May 13, 2020, the Debtors filed voluntary petitions for relief under Chapter 11 of the Bankruptcy Code in Bankruptcy Court. The information
contained in Note 1—General—Going Concern of the notes to the condensed consolidated financial statements is incorporated herein by reference. As a
result of such bankruptcy filings, substantially all proceedings pending against the Debtors have been stayed.
Item 1A. Risk Factors
Except as set forth below, there have been no material changes or additions to the risk factors previously disclosed in Part I—Item 1A—Risk Factors
of our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2019, which was filed with the SEC on February 20, 2020.
The COVID-19 pandemic has had a material impact on the U.S. and global economies and has adversely affected, and will continue to adversely affect,
our employees, suppliers, customers and end consumers, which has had an adverse impact, and will continue to have an adverse impact, on our
business, financial condition and results of operations.
The World Health Organization has declared the outbreak of the novel coronavirus COVID-19 a pandemic and public health emergency of
international concern. In March 2020, the President of the United States declared a State of National Emergency due to the COVID-19 pandemic. Other
countries affected by the outbreak took similar measures. In addition, many jurisdictions have limited, and are considering to further limit, social mobility
and gathering. As the COVID-19 pandemic develops, governments (at national, state and local levels), corporations and other authorities may continue to
implement restrictions or policies that could adversely impact consumer spending, global capital markets, and the global economy, all of which could have
a materially adverse impact on our business, financial condition and results of operations.
A prolonged pandemic and/or economic downturn in the United States or the other markets in which we operate or in which we compete could result
in:
•

significant reductions in demand for our services due to the impact of the pandemic and resulting economic downturn affecting our customers;

•

significant changes in the political conditions in our markets, including quarantines, governmental or regulatory actions, closures or other
restrictions that limit or close our facilities, restrict our employees’ ability to travel or perform necessary business functions, or otherwise
prevent our third-party partners, suppliers, or customers from sufficiently staffing operations, including operations necessary for delivering
our services, may adversely impact our results; and

•

continued disruptions in the U.S. capital markets.

The ultimate extent of the COVID-19 outbreak and its impact on our business, results of operations and financial condition is highly uncertain and
cannot be predicted. In addition, the continuation or resurgence of the COVID-19 pandemic could exacerbate the other risks identified in Part I—Item 1A
—Risk Factors of our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2019.
Risks Associated with Chapter 11 Proceedings
We are subject to the risks and uncertainties associated with Chapter 11 proceedings.
For the duration of our Chapter 11 proceedings, our operations and our ability to develop and execute our business plan, as well as our continuation as
a going concern, are subject to the risks and uncertainties associated with bankruptcy. These risks include the following:
•

our ability to develop, confirm and consummate a Chapter 11 plan or alternative restructuring transaction;

•

our ability to obtain court approval with respect to motions filed in Chapter 11 proceedings from time to time;

•

our ability to operate within the restrictions and the liquidity limitations of the DIP Facility and any related orders entered by the Bankruptcy
Court in connection with the Chapter 11 Cases;

•

our ability to obtain sufficient financing to allow us to emerge from bankruptcy and execute our business plan of reorganization postemergence;
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•

our ability to maintain our relationships with our suppliers, service providers, customers, employees and other third parties;

•

our ability to maintain contracts that are critical to our operations;

•

our ability to execute our business plan, including the accelerated clearing process of C-band spectrum;

•

our ability to attract, motivate and retain key employees;

•

the high costs of bankruptcy and related fees;

•

the ability of third parties to seek and obtain court approval to terminate contracts and other agreements with us;

•

the ability of third parties to seek and obtain court approval to terminate or shorten the exclusivity period for us to propose and confirm a
Chapter 11 plan, to appoint a Chapter 11 trustee, or to convert the Chapter 11 proceedings to a Chapter 7 proceeding;

•

the actions and decisions of our creditors and other third parties who have interests in our Chapter 11 proceedings that may be inconsistent
with our plans; and

•

uncertainties and continuing risks associated with our ability to achieve our stated goals and continue as a going concern.

Delays in our Chapter 11 Cases increase the risks of us being unable to reorganize our business and emerge from bankruptcy and increase our costs
associated with the bankruptcy process.
These risks and uncertainties could affect our business and operations in various ways. For example, negative events associated with our Chapter 11
proceedings could adversely affect our relationships with our suppliers, service providers, customers, employees, and other third parties, which in turn
could adversely affect our operations and financial condition. Also, we need the prior approval of the Bankruptcy Court for transactions outside the
ordinary course of business, which may limit our ability to respond timely to certain events or take advantage of certain opportunities. Because of the risks
and uncertainties associated with our Chapter 11 proceedings, we cannot accurately predict or quantify the ultimate impact of events that will occur during
our Chapter 11 proceedings that may be inconsistent with our plans.
Operating under Bankruptcy Court protection for a long period of time may harm our business.
Our future results are dependent upon the successful confirmation and implementation of a plan of reorganization. A long period of operations under
Bankruptcy Court protection could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations and liquidity. So long as the
Chapter 11 proceedings continue, our senior management will be required to spend a significant amount of time and effort dealing with the reorganization
instead of focusing exclusively on our business operations. A prolonged period of operating under Bankruptcy Court protection also may make it more
difficult to retain management and other key personnel necessary to the success and growth of our business.
Additionally, so long as the Chapter 11 proceedings continue, we will be required to incur significant costs for professional fees and other expenses
associated with the administration of the Chapter 11 proceedings. We have secured a commitment for DIP Facility in an aggregate principal amount of $1.0
billion, which is subject to approval by the Bankruptcy Court. If we are unable to obtain such court approval, or alternative financing on favorable terms or
at all, our chances of successfully reorganizing our business may be seriously jeopardized, and, as a result, any securities in us could become further
devalued or become worthless.
Furthermore, we cannot predict the ultimate amount of all settlement terms for the liabilities that will be subject to a plan of reorganization. Even
once a plan of reorganization is approved and implemented, our operating results may be adversely affected by the possible reluctance of prospective
lenders and other counterparties to do business with a company that recently emerged from Chapter 11 proceedings.
The Chapter 11 Cases limit the flexibility of our management team in running our business.
While we operate our businesses as debtor-in-possession under supervision by the Bankruptcy Court, we are required to obtain the approval of the
Bankruptcy Court and, in some cases, certain lenders prior to engaging in activities or transactions outside the ordinary course of business. Bankruptcy
Court approval of non-ordinary course activities entails preparation and filing of appropriate motions with the Bankruptcy Court, negotiation with the
creditors’ committee and other parties-in-interest and one or more hearings. The creditors’ committees and other parties-in interest may be heard at any
Bankruptcy Court hearing and may raise objections with respect to these motions. This process may delay major transactions and limit our ability to
respond quickly to opportunities and events in the marketplace. Furthermore, in the event the Bankruptcy Court does not approve a proposed activity or
transaction, we would be prevented from engaging in activities and transactions that we believe are beneficial to us.
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We may not be able to obtain confirmation of a Chapter 11 plan of reorganization.
To emerge successfully from Bankruptcy Court protection as a viable entity, we must meet certain statutory requirements with respect to adequacy of
disclosure with respect to the plan of reorganization, solicit and obtain the requisite acceptances of such a plan and fulfill other statutory conditions for
confirmation of such a plan, which have not occurred to date. The confirmation process is subject to numerous, unanticipated potential delays, including a
delay in the Bankruptcy Court’s commencement of the confirmation hearing regarding our plan of reorganization.
We may not receive the requisite acceptances of constituencies in the Chapter 11 proceedings to confirm our plan. Even if the requisite acceptances of
our plan are received, the Bankruptcy Court may not confirm such a plan. The precise requirements and evidentiary showing for confirming a plan,
notwithstanding its rejection by one or more impaired classes of claims or equity interests, depends upon a number of factors including, without limitation,
the status and seniority of the claims or equity interests in the rejecting class (i.e., secured claims or unsecured claims or subordinated or senior claims). If a
Chapter 11 plan of reorganization is not confirmed by the Bankruptcy Court, it is unclear whether we would be able to reorganize our business and what, if
anything, holders of claims against us would ultimately receive with respect to their claims.
There can be no assurance as to whether we will successfully reorganize and emerge from the Chapter 11 proceedings or, if we do successfully
reorganize, as to when we would emerge from the Chapter 11 proceedings. If we are unable to successfully reorganize, we may not be able to continue our
operations.
Our long-term liquidity requirements and the adequacy of our capital resources are difficult to predict at this time.
We face uncertainty regarding the adequacy of our liquidity and capital resources. In addition to the cash requirements necessary to fund ongoing
operations, we have incurred significant professional fees and other costs in connection with preparation for the Chapter 11 proceedings and expect that we
will continue to incur significant professional fees and costs throughout our Chapter 11 proceedings. In addition, we must comply with the covenants of our
DIP Facility and other agreements associated therewith, if approved by the Bankruptcy Court, in order to continue to access our borrowings thereunder. We
cannot assure you that cash on hand, cash flow from operations and the DIP Facility will be sufficient to continue to fund our operations and allow us to
satisfy our obligations related to the Chapter 11 proceedings until we are able to emerge from the Chapter 11 proceedings.
Our liquidity, including our ability to meet our ongoing operational obligations, is dependent upon, among other things: (i) our ability to comply with
the terms and conditions of our DIP Facility and associated agreements, (ii) our ability to comply with the terms and conditions of any cash collateral order
that may be entered by the Bankruptcy Court in connection with the Chapter 11 proceedings, (iii) our ability to maintain adequate cash on hand, (iv) our
ability to generate cash flow from operations, (v) our ability to develop, confirm and consummate a Chapter 11 plan or other alternative restructuring
transaction, and (vi) the cost, duration and outcome of the Chapter 11 proceedings.
As a result of the Chapter 11 proceedings, our financial results may be volatile and may not reflect historical trends.
During the Chapter 11 proceedings, we expect our financial results to continue to be volatile as restructuring activities and expenses, contract
terminations and rejections, and claims assessments significantly impact our condensed consolidated financial statements. As a result, our historical
financial performance is likely not indicative of our financial performance after the date of the bankruptcy filing. In addition, if we emerge from Chapter
11, the amounts reported in subsequent condensed consolidated financial statements may materially change relative to historical consolidated financial
statements, including as a result of revisions to our operating plans pursuant to a plan of reorganization. We also may be required to adopt fresh start
accounting, in which case our assets and liabilities will be recorded at fair value as of the fresh start reporting date, which may differ materially from the
recorded values of assets and liabilities on our consolidated balance sheets. Our financial results after the application of fresh start accounting also may be
different from historical trends.
We may be subject to claims that will not be discharged in the Chapter 11 proceedings, which could have a material adverse effect on our financial
condition and results of operations.
The Bankruptcy Code provides that the confirmation of a plan of reorganization discharges a debtor from substantially all debts arising prior to
confirmation. With few exceptions, all claims that arose prior to May 13, 2020, or before confirmation of the plan of reorganization (i) would be subject to
compromise and/or treatment under the plan of reorganization and/or (ii) would be discharged in accordance with the terms of the plan of reorganization.
Any claims not ultimately discharged through the plan of reorganization could be asserted against the reorganized entities and may have an adverse effect
on our financial condition and results of operations on a post-reorganization basis.
The Debtors may be unable to comply with restrictions imposed by the agreements governing the DIP Facility and the Debtors’ other financing
arrangements.
The agreements governing the DIP Facility, if approved by the Bankruptcy Court, impose a number of obligations and restrictions on the Debtors.
The Debtors’ ability to borrow under the DIP Facility is subject to the satisfaction of certain customary
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conditions precedent set forth therein. Covenants of the DIP Facility would include general affirmative covenants, as well as negative covenants such as
prohibiting us from incurring or permitting debt, investments, liens or dispositions unless specifically permitted. Failure to comply with these covenants
would result in an event of default under the DIP Facility and permit the lenders thereunder to exercise remedies under the loan documentation for the DIP
Facility. The Debtors’ ability to comply with these provisions may be affected by events beyond their control and their failure to comply, or obtain a waiver
in the event the Debtors cannot comply with a covenant, could result in an event of default under the agreements governing the DIP Facility and the
Debtors’ other financing arrangements.
We may experience increased levels of employee attrition as a result of the Chapter 11 proceedings.
As a result of the Chapter 11 proceedings, we may experience increased levels of employee attrition, and our employees likely will face considerable
distraction and uncertainty. A loss of key personnel or material erosion of employee morale could adversely affect our business and results of operations.
Our ability to engage, motivate and retain key employees or take other measures intended to motivate and incentivize key employees to remain with us
through the pendency of the Chapter 11 proceedings may be limited by restrictions on implementation of incentive programs under the Bankruptcy Code.
The loss of services of members of our senior management team could impair our ability to execute our strategy and implement operational initiatives,
which would be likely to have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.
In certain instances, a Chapter 11 case may be converted to a case under Chapter 7 of the Bankruptcy Code.
There can be no assurance as to whether we will successfully reorganize and emerge from the Chapter 11 proceedings or, if we do successfully
reorganize, as to when we would emerge from the Chapter 11 proceedings. If the Bankruptcy Court finds that it would be in the best interest of creditors
and/or the Debtors, the Bankruptcy Court may convert our Chapter 11 bankruptcy cases to cases under Chapter 7 of the Bankruptcy Code. In such event, a
Chapter 7 trustee would be appointed or elected to liquidate the Debtors’ assets for distribution in accordance with the priorities established by the
Bankruptcy Code. The Debtors believe that liquidation under Chapter 7 would result in significantly smaller distributions being made to the Debtors’
creditors than those provided for in a Chapter 11 plan or reorganization because of (i) the likelihood that the assets would have to be sold or otherwise
disposed of in a disorderly fashion over a short period of time rather than reorganizing or selling in a controlled manner the Debtors’ businesses as a going
concern, (ii) additional administrative expenses involved in the appointment of a Chapter 7 trustee, and (iii) additional expenses and claims, some of which
would be entitled to priority, that would be generated during the liquidation and from the rejection of leases and other executory contracts in connection
with a cessation of operations.
Trading in our common shares during the pendency of the Chapter 11 proceedings is highly speculative and poses substantial risks.
All of our indebtedness is senior to the Company’s existing common shares in our capital structure. As we have a substantial amount of indebtedness,
any trading in our common shares during the pendency of the Chapter 11 Cases is highly speculative and poses substantial risks to purchasers of our
common shares.
Item 3. Defaults upon Senior Securities
The filing of the Chapter 11 Cases described in this Quarterly Report constituted an event of default that accelerated certain of the Debtors’
obligations under the following debt instruments (the “Debt Instruments”), as of such filing on May 13, 2020:
• $3.1 billion in aggregate principal amount of first lien term loans, consisting of (i) a $2.0 billion floating rate first lien term loan; (ii) a $395.0
million floating rate first lien term loan; and (iii) a $700.0 million fixed rate first lien term loan, pursuant to the Intelsat Jackson Secured
Credit Agreement;
• $490.0 million in aggregate principal amount of the 9.50% Senior Secured Notes due 2022 issued pursuant to the Indenture, dated as of June 30,
2016, by and among Intelsat Jackson, the guarantors party thereto and Wilmington Trust, National Association (“Wilmington Trust”), as
trustee;
• $1.3 billion in aggregate principal amount of the 8.00% Senior Secured Notes due 2024 issued pursuant to the Indenture, dated as of March 29,
2016, by and among Intelsat Jackson, the guarantors party thereto and Wilmington Trust, as trustee;
• $2.0 billion in aggregate principal amount of the 5.50% Senior Notes due 2023 issued pursuant to the Indenture, dated as of June 5, 2013, by and
among Intelsat Jackson, the guarantors party thereto and U.S. Bank National Association, a national banking association (“U.S. Bank”), as
trustee and successor to Wells Fargo Bank, National Association (“Wells Fargo”);
• $3.0 billion in aggregate principal amount of the 8.50% Senior Notes due 2024 issued pursuant to the Indenture, dated as of September 19, 2018,
by and among Intelsat Jackson, the guarantors party thereto and U.S. Bank, as trustee;
45

• $1.9 billion in aggregate principal amount of the 9.75% Senior Notes due 2025 issued pursuant to the Indenture, dated as of July 5, 2017, by and
among Intelsat Jackson, the guarantors party thereto and U.S. Bank, as trustee;
• $1.3 billion in aggregate principal amount of the 9.50% Senior Notes due 2023 issued pursuant to the Indenture, dated as of August 16, 2018, by
and among ICF, the guarantors party thereto and Wilmington Savings Fund Society, FSB, as trustee and successor to U.S. Bank;
• $421.2 million in aggregate principal amount of the 7.75% Senior Notes due 2021 issued pursuant to the Indenture, dated as of April 5, 2013, by
and among Intelsat Luxembourg, the guarantors party thereto and Delaware Trust Company, as trustee and successor to U.S. Bank (as
successor to Wells Fargo);
• $1.0 billion in aggregate principal amount of the 8.125% Senior Notes due 2023 issued pursuant to the Indenture, dated as of April 5, 2013, by
and among Intelsat Luxembourg, the guarantors party thereto and Delaware Trust Company, as trustee and successor to U.S. Bank;
• $403.4 million in aggregate principal amount of 12.50% Senior Notes due 2024 issued pursuant to the Indenture, dated as of January 6, 2017, by
and among Intelsat Luxembourg, the guarantors party thereto and Delaware Trust Company, as trustee and successor to U.S. Bank; and
• $402.5 million in aggregate principal amount of 4.50% Convertible Senior Notes due 2025 pursuant to the Indenture, dated as of June 18, 2018,
by and among Intelsat S.A., Intelsat Envision, as guarantor, and BOKF, National Association, as trustee and successor to U.S. Bank.
The Debt Instruments provide that, as a result of the Chapter 11 Cases, the principal, accrued and unpaid interest and certain other amounts due
thereunder shall be immediately due and payable. Any judicial or administrative actions against the Company and efforts by creditors to collect on or
otherwise exercise rights or remedies with respect to such payment obligations under the Debt Instruments are automatically stayed as a result of the
Chapter 11 Cases, and the creditors’ rights of enforcement in respect of the Debt Instruments are subject to the applicable provisions of the Bankruptcy
Code.
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Item 6. Exhibits
Exhibit
No.
4.1
4.2
4.3
4.4
4.5
10.1
10.2
10.3

10.4
10.5
31.1
31.2
32.1
32.2
101

104

Document Description
Second Supplemental Indenture for Intelsat Jackson Holdings S.A.’s 8½% Senior Notes due 2024, dated as of April 24, 2020, by and among Intelsat Jackson
Holdings S.A., as Issuer, Intelsat Virginia Holdings LLC, as New Guarantor, and U.S. Bank National Association, as Trustee.*
Fourth Supplemental Indenture for Intelsat Jackson Holdings S.A.’s 9¾% Senior Notes due 2025, dated as of April 24, 2020, by and among Intelsat Jackson
Holdings S.A., as Issuer, Intelsat Virginia Holdings LLC, as New Guarantor, and U.S. Bank National Association, as Trustee.*
Fifth Supplemental Indenture for Intelsat Jackson Holdings S.A.’s 8% Senior Secured Notes due 2024, dated as of April 24, 2020, by and among Intelsat
Jackson Holdings S.A., as Issuer, Intelsat Virginia Holdings LLC, as New Guarantor, and Wilmington Trust, National Association, as Trustee.*
Fifth Supplemental Indenture for Intelsat Jackson Holdings S.A.’s 9½% Senior Secured Notes due 2022, dated as of April 24, 2020, by and among Intelsat
Jackson Holdings S.A., as Issuer, Intelsat Virginia Holdings LLC, as New Guarantor, and Wilmington Trust, National Association, as Trustee.*
Seventh Supplemental Indenture for Intelsat Jackson Holdings S.A.’s 5½% Senior Notes due 2023, dated as of April 24, 2020, by and among Intelsat Jackson
Holdings S.A., as Issuer, Intelsat Virginia Holdings LLC, as New Guarantor, and U.S. Bank National Association, as Trustee.*
Supplement No. 4 to Guarantee, dated as of April 24, 2020, to the Guarantee dated as of January 12, 2011, by and between Intelsat Virginia Holdings LLC, as
New Guarantor, and Bank of America, N.A. as Administrative Agent.*
Supplement No. 4 to Security and Pledge Agreement, dated as of April 24, 2020, to the Security and Pledge Agreement, dated as of January 12, 2011, by and
among Intelsat Jackson Holdings S.A., Intelsat Virginia Holdings LLC, as New Guarantor, Bank of America, N.A., as Administrative Agent, and Wilmington
Trust, National Association (as successor by merger to Wilmington Trust FSB), as Collateral Trustee.*
Collateral Agency and Intercreditor Joinder, dated as of April 24, 2020, by and among Intelsat Connect Finance S.A., Intelsat Jackson Holdings S.A., the
other grantors from time to time party thereto, Bank of America, N.A., as Administrative Agent under the Existing Credit Agreement, each additional First
Lien Representative from time to time party thereto, each Second Lien Representative from time to time party thereto, and Wilmington Trust, National
Association (as successor by merger to Wilmington Trust FSB), as Collateral Trustee.*
Intelsat S.A.’s 2020 Key Employee Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of Intelsat S.A.’s Current Report on Form 8-K, File No. 00135878, filed on May 1, 2020).†
Intelsat S.A.’s Form of Retention Agreement (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 of Intelsat S.A.’s Current Report on Form 8-K, File No. 001-35878,
filed on May 1, 2020).†
Rule 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a) Certification of Principal Executive Officer.*
Rule 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a) Certification of Principal Financial Officer.*
Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.*
Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.*
The following financial information from the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2020, formatted in Inline
Extensible Business Reporting Language (iXBRL): (i) Consolidated Balance Sheets, (ii) Consolidated Statements of Operations, (iii) Consolidated Statements
of Comprehensive Loss, (iv) Consolidated Statements of Changes in Shareholders' Deficit, (v) Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows, and (vi) Notes to
Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements.*
Cover Page Interactive Data File - the cover page XBRL tags are embedded within the Inline XBRL document.

*

Filed herewith.

†

Management contract or compensatory plan or arrangement.

The certifications attached as Exhibits 32.1 and 32.2 that accompany this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q are not deemed filed with the SEC and are not to
be incorporated by reference into any filing of Intelsat S.A. under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, or the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as
amended, whether made before or after the date of this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, irrespective of any general incorporation language contained in
such filing.
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SIGNATURES
Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the
undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.
INTELSAT S.A.
Date: June 4, 2020

By

/s/ STEPHEN SPENGLER
Stephen Spengler
Chief Executive Officer

Date: June 4, 2020

By

/s/ DAVID TOLLEY
David Tolley
Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
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Exhibit 4.1

SUPPLEMENTAL INDENTURE NO. 2
SUPPLEMENTAL INDENTURE NO. 2 (this “Supplemental Indenture”), dated as of April 24, 2020, by and
among INTELSAT JACKSON HOLDINGS S.A. (or its successor), a société anonyme existing under the laws of Luxembourg
(the “Issuer”), INTELSAT VIRGINIA HOLDINGS LLC, a Virginia limited liability company and indirect subsidiary of the
Issuer (the “New Guarantor”), the Issuer, and U.S. BANK NATIONAL ASSOCIATION, a national banking association, as
trustee under the indenture referred to below (the “Trustee”).
W I T N E S E T H:
WHEREAS, the Issuer and the existing Guarantors have heretofore executed and delivered to the Trustee an
Indenture (as amended, supplemented or otherwise modified, the “Indenture”) dated as of September 19, 2018, providing for the
issuance of the Issuer’s 8.500% Senior Notes due 2024 (the “Notes”), initially in the aggregate principal amount of
$2,250,000,000;
WHEREAS, Section 4.11 of the Indenture provides that under certain circumstances the Issuer is required to cause
the New Guarantor to execute and deliver to the Trustee a supplemental indenture pursuant to which the New Guarantor shall
unconditionally guarantee all the Issuer’s obligations under the Notes pursuant to a Guarantee on the terms and conditions set
forth herein; and
WHEREAS, pursuant to Section 9.01 of the Indenture, the Trustee and the Issuer are authorized to execute and
deliver this Supplemental Indenture.
NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the foregoing and for other good and valuable consideration, the receipt
of which is hereby acknowledged, the New Guarantor, the Issuer, and the Trustee mutually covenant and agree for the equal and
ratable benefit of the holders of the Notes as follows:
1. Defined Terms. As used in this Supplemental Indenture, terms defined in the Indenture or in the preamble or recital hereto
are used herein as therein defined, except that the term “Holders” in this Supplemental Indenture shall refer to the term
“Holders” as defined in the Indenture and the Trustee acting on behalf of and for the benefit of such Holders. The words
“herein,” “hereof” and hereby and other words of similar import used in this Supplemental Indenture refer to this
Supplemental Indenture as a whole and not to any particular section hereof.
2. Agreement to Guarantee. The New Guarantor hereby agrees, jointly and severally with all existing Guarantors (if any), to
unconditionally guarantee the Issuer’s obligations under the Notes on the terms and subject to the conditions set forth in
Article 10 of the Indenture, and to be bound by all other applicable provisions of the Indenture and the Notes applying to
a Guarantor and to perform all of the obligations and agreements of a Guarantor under the Indenture.
3. Notices. All notices or other communications to the New Guarantor shall be given as provided in Section 11.02 of the
Indenture; provided that copies of notices to the Issuer or a Guarantor need not be provided to Wachtell, Lipton, Rosen &
Katz, but shall instead be provided to:
Kirkland & Ellis LLP
601 Lexington Avenue
New York, New York 10022

Attention:
Joshua N. Korff, P.C.
Sophia Hudson, P.C.
1. Ratification of Indenture; Supplemental Indentures Part of Indenture. Except as expressly amended hereby, the Indenture
is in all respects ratified and confirmed and all the terms, conditions and provisions thereof shall remain in full force and
effect. This Supplemental Indenture shall form a part of the Indenture for all purposes, and every holder of Notes
heretofore or hereafter authenticated and delivered shall be bound hereby.
2. Governing Law. THIS SUPPLEMENTAL INDENTURE SHALL BE GOVERNED BY, AND CONSTRUED IN
ACCORDANCE WITH, THE LAWS OF THE STATE OF NEW YORK, AND FOR THE AVOIDANCE OF DOUBT,
THE APPLICABILITY OF ARTICLE 470-1 TO 470-19 OF THE AMENDED LUXEMBOURG LAW ON
COMMERCIAL COMPANIES SHALL BE EXCLUDED.
3. Trustee Makes No Representation. The Trustee makes no representation as to the validity or sufficiency of this
Supplemental Indenture.
4. Counterparts. The parties may sign any number of copies of this Supplemental Indenture. Each signed copy shall be an
original, but all of them together represent the same agreement.
5. Effect of Headings. The Section headings herein are for convenience only and shall not effect the construction thereof.
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have caused this Supplemental Indenture to be duly executed as of the
date first above written.
INTELSAT VIRGINIA HOLDINGS LLC
By: INTELSAT SATELLITE LLC, as the
Managing Member
By: /s/ José Toscano
Name: José Toscano
Title: Deputy Chairman
INTELSAT JACKSON HOLDINGS S.A.
By: /s/ José Toscano
Name: José Toscano
Title: Chairman & Chief Executive Officer

U.S. BANK NATIONAL ASSOCIATION,
as Trustee
By: /s/ Richard Prokosch
Name: Richard Prokosch
Title: Vice President

Exhibit 4.2

SUPPLEMENTAL INDENTURE NO. 4
SUPPLEMENTAL INDENTURE NO. 4 (this “Supplemental Indenture”), dated as of April 24, 2020, by and
among INTELSAT JACKSON HOLDINGS S.A. (or its successor), a société anonyme existing under the laws of Luxembourg
(the “Issuer”), Intelsat VIRGINIA Holdings LLC, a Virginia limited liability company and indirect subsidiary of the Issuer (the
“New Guarantor”), and U.S. BANK NATIONAL ASSOCIATION, a national banking association, as trustee under the Indenture
referred to below (the “Trustee”).
W I T N E S S E T H:
WHEREAS, the Issuer and the existing Guarantors have heretofore executed and delivered to the Trustee an
indenture, dated as of July 5, 2017 (as amended, supplemented or otherwise modified prior to the date hereof, the “Indenture”),
providing for the issuance of the Issuer’s 9.75% Senior Notes due 2025 (the “Notes”), initially in the aggregate principal amount
of $1,500,000,000.00;
WHEREAS, the New Guarantor desires to unconditionally guarantee all the Issuer’s obligations under the Notes
pursuant to a Guarantee on the terms and conditions set forth herein; and
WHEREAS, pursuant to Section 9.01 of the Indenture, the Trustee and the Issuer are authorized to execute one or
more supplemental indentures, including this Supplemental Indenture, to add Guarantors with respect to the Notes.
NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the foregoing and for other good and valuable consideration, the receipt of which is
hereby acknowledged, the New Guarantor, the Issuer and the Trustee mutually covenant and agree for the equal and ratable
benefit of the Holders of the Notes as follows:
1. Defined Terms. As used in this Supplemental Indenture, terms defined in the Indenture or in the preamble or recital
hereto are used herein as therein defined. The words “herein,” “hereof,” and “hereby” and other words of similar import used in
this Supplemental Indenture refer to this Supplemental Indenture as a whole and not to any particular section hereof.
2. Agreement to Guarantee. The New Guarantor hereby agrees, jointly and severally with all existing Guarantors (if any),
to unconditionally guarantee the Issuer’s obligations under the Notes on the terms and subject to the conditions set forth in
Article 10 of the Indenture as a Guarantor, and to be bound by all other applicable provisions of the Indenture and the Notes as
applying to a Guarantor and to perform all of the obligations and agreements of a Guarantor under the Indenture.
3. Notices. All notices or other communications to the New Guarantor shall be given as provided in Section 11.02 of the
Indenture; provided that copies of notices to the Issuer or a Guarantor need not be provided to Milbank, Tweed, Hadley &
McCloy LLP, but shall instead be provided to:
Kirkland & Ellis LLP
601 Lexington Avenue
New York, New York 10022
Attention:
Joshua N. Korff, P.C.
Sophia Hudson, P.C.

4. Ratification of Indenture; Supplemental Indentures Part of Indenture. Except as expressly amended hereby, the
Indenture is in all respects ratified and confirmed and all the terms, conditions and provisions thereof shall remain in full force
and effect. This Supplemental Indenture shall form a part of the Indenture for all purposes, and every Holder of Notes heretofore
or hereafter authenticated and delivered shall be bound hereby.
5. Governing Law. THIS SUPPLEMENTAL INDENTURE SHALL BE GOVERNED BY, AND CONSTRUED IN
ACCORDANCE WITH, THE LAWS OF THE STATE OF NEW YORK, WITHOUT REGARD TO PRINCIPLES OF
CONFLICTS OF LAW. THE APPLICATION TO THE NOTES OF THE PROVISIONS SET OUT IN ARTICLES 84
TO 94-8 OF THE LUXEMBOURG LAW ON COMMERCIAL COMPANIES DATED AUGUST 10, 1915, AS
AMENDED, IS EXCLUDED.
6. Trustee Makes No Representation. The Trustee makes no representations as to the validity or sufficiency of this
Supplemental Indenture.
7. Counterparts. The parties may sign any number of copies of this Supplemental Indenture. Each signed copy shall be an
original, but all of them together represent the same agreement. One signed copy is enough to prove this Supplemental Indenture.
Notwithstanding the foregoing, the exchange of copies of this Supplemental Indenture and of signature pages by facsimile or
PDF transmission shall constitute effective execution and delivery of this Supplemental Indenture as to the parties hereto and
may be used in lieu of the original Supplemental Indenture and signature pages for all purposes.
8. Effect of Headings. The Section headings of this Supplemental Indenture have been inserted for convenience of
reference only, are not intended to be considered a part hereof and shall not modify or restrict any of the terms or provisions
hereof.
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have caused this Supplemental Indenture to be duly executed as of the date first
written above.
INTELSAT VIRGINIA HOLDINGS LLC
By: INTELSAT SATELLITE LLC, as the
Managing Member
By: /s/ José Toscano
Name: José Toscano
Title: Deputy Chairman
INTELSAT JACKSON HOLDINGS S.A.
By: /s/ José Toscano
Name: José Toscano
Title: Chairman & Chief Executive Officer
U.S. BANK NATIONAL ASSOCIATION, not in
its individual capacity, but solely as Trustee
By: /s/ Richard Prokosch
Name: Richard Prokosch

Title: Vice President

Exhibit 4.3

SUPPLEMENTAL INDENTURE NO. 5
SUPPLEMENTAL INDENTURE NO. 5 (this “Supplemental Indenture”), dated as of April 24, 2020, among
INTELSAT JACKSON HOLDINGS S.A. (or its successor), a société anonyme existing under the laws of Luxembourg (the
“Issuer”), Intelsat VIRGINIA Holdings LLC, a Virginia limited liability company and indirect subsidiary of the Issuer (the “New
Guarantor”), and WILMINGTON TRUST, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION, a national banking association, as trustee under the
indenture referred to below (the “Trustee”).
WITNESSETH:
WHEREAS, the Issuer and the existing Guarantors have heretofore executed and delivered to the Trustee an
Indenture (as amended, supplemented or otherwise modified, the “Indenture”), dated as of March 29, 2016, providing for the
issuance of the Issuer’s 8.00% Senior Secured Notes due 2024 (the “Notes”), initially in the aggregate principal amount of
$1,250,000,000;
WHEREAS, Section 4.11 of the Indenture provides that under certain circumstances the Issuer is required to cause
the New Guarantor to execute and deliver to the Trustee a supplemental indenture pursuant to which the New Guarantor shall
unconditionally guarantee all the Issuer’s obligations under the Notes pursuant to a Guarantee on the terms and conditions set
forth herein; and
WHEREAS, pursuant to Section 9.01 of the Indenture, the Trustee and the Issuer are authorized to execute and
deliver this Supplemental Indenture without notice to or consent of any Holder.
NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the foregoing and for other good and valuable consideration, the receipt
of which is hereby acknowledged, the New Guarantor, the Issuer, and the Trustee mutually covenant and agree for the equal and
ratable benefit of the holders of the Notes as follows:
1. Defined Terms. As used in this Supplemental Indenture, terms defined in the Indenture or in the preamble or recital hereto
are used herein as therein defined. The words “herein,” “hereof” and hereby and other words of similar import used in this
Supplemental Indenture refer to this Supplemental Indenture as a whole and not to any particular section hereof.
2. Agreement to Guarantee. The New Guarantor hereby agrees, jointly and severally with all existing Guarantors (if any), to
unconditionally guarantee the Issuer’s obligations under the Notes on the terms and subject to the conditions set forth in
Article 10 of the Indenture, and to be bound by all other applicable provisions of the Indenture and the Notes applying to
a Guarantor and to perform all of the obligations and agreements of a Guarantor under the Indenture.
3. Notices. All notices or other communications to the New Guarantor shall be given as provided in Section 12.02 of the
Indenture; provided that copies of notices to the Issuer or a Guarantor need not be provided to Paul, Weiss, Rifkind,
Wharton & Garrison LLP, but shall instead be provided to:
Kirkland & Ellis LLP
601 Lexington Avenue
New York, New York 10022
Attention:
Joshua N. Korff, P.C.

Sophia Hudson, P.C.
4.

5.

6.

7.

8.

Ratification of Indenture; Supplemental Indentures Part of Indenture. Except as expressly amended hereby, the Indenture
is in all respects ratified and confirmed and all the terms, conditions and provisions thereof shall remain in full force and
effect. This Supplemental Indenture shall form a part of the Indenture for all purposes, and every holder of Notes
heretofore or hereafter authenticated and delivered shall be bound hereby.
Governing Law. THIS SUPPLEMENTAL INDENTURE SHALL BE GOVERNED BY, AND CONSTRUED IN
ACCORDANCE WITH, THE LAWS OF THE STATE OF NEW YORK, AND FOR THE AVOIDANCE OF
DOUBT, THE APPLICABILITY OF ARTICLE 86 TO 94-8 OF THE AMENDED LUXEMBOURG LAW ON
COMMERCIAL COMPANIES SHALL BE EXCLUDED.
Trustee Makes No Representation. The Trustee accepts the amendments of the Indenture and the Security Documents
effected by this Supplemental Indenture on the terms and conditions set forth in the Indenture and Security Documents,
including the terms and provisions defining and limiting the liabilities and responsibilities of the Trustee. Without limiting
the generality of the foregoing, the Trustee shall not be responsible in any manner whatsoever for or with respect to any of
the recitals or statements contained herein, all of which recitals or statements are made solely by the Issuer.
Counterparts. The parties may sign any number of copies of this Supplemental Indenture. Each signed copy shall be an
original, but all of them together represent the same agreement. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the exchange of copies of
this Supplemental Indenture and of signature pages by facsimile, PDF or other electronic transmission shall constitute
effective execution and delivery of this Supplemental Indenture as to the parties hereto and may be used in lieu of the
original Supplemental Indenture and signature pages for all purposes.
Effect of Headings. The Section headings herein are for convenience of reference only, are not intended to be considered a
part hereof and shall not modify or restrict any of the terms of provisions hereof.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have caused this Supplemental Indenture to be duly executed as of the
date first above written.
INTELSAT VIRGINIA HOLDINGS LLC
By: INTELSAT SATELLITE LLC, as the
Managing Member
By: /s/ José Toscano
Name: José Toscano
Title: Deputy Chairman
INTELSAT JACKSON HOLDINGS S.A.
By: /s/ José Toscano
Name: José Toscano

Title: Chairman & Chief Executive Officer
WILMINGTON TRUST, NATIONAL
ASSOCIATION, as Trustee
By: /s/ Quinton M. DePompolo
Name: Quinton M. DePompolo
Title: Banking Officer

Exhibit 4.4

SUPPLEMENTAL INDENTURE NO. 5
SUPPLEMENTAL INDENTURE NO. 5 (this “Supplemental Indenture”), dated as of April 24, 2020, among
INTELSAT JACKSON HOLDINGS S.A. (or its successor), a société anonyme existing under the laws of Luxembourg (the
“Issuer”), INTELSAT VIRGINIA HOLDINGS LLC, a Virginia limited liability company and indirect subsidiary of the Issuer
(the “New Guarantor”), and WILMINGTON TRUST, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION, a national banking association, as trustee
under the indenture referred to below (the “Trustee”).
W I T N E S S E T H:
WHEREAS, the Issuer and the existing Guarantors have heretofore executed and delivered to the Trustee an
Indenture (as amended, supplemented or otherwise modified, the “Indenture”), dated as of June 30, 2016, providing for the
issuance of the Issuer’s 9.50% Senior Secured Notes due 2022 (the “Notes”), initially in the aggregate principal amount of
$490,000,000.00;
WHEREAS, Section 4.11 of the Indenture provides that under certain circumstances the Issuer is required to cause
the New Guarantor to execute and deliver to the Trustee a supplemental indenture pursuant to which the New Guarantor shall
unconditionally guarantee all the Issuer’s obligations under the Notes pursuant to a Guarantee on the terms and conditions set
forth herein; and
WHEREAS, pursuant to Section 9.01 of the Indenture, the Trustee and the Issuer are authorized to execute and
deliver this Supplemental Indenture without notice to or consent of any Holder.
NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the foregoing and for other good and valuable consideration, the receipt
of which is hereby acknowledged, the New Guarantor, the Issuer, and the Trustee mutually covenant and agree for the equal and
ratable benefit of the holders of the Notes as follows:
1. Defined Terms. As used in this Supplemental Indenture, terms defined in the Indenture or in the preamble or recital hereto
are used herein as therein defined. The words “herein,” “hereof” and hereby and other words of similar import used in this
Supplemental Indenture refer to this Supplemental Indenture as a whole and not to any particular section hereof.
2. Agreement to Guarantee. The New Guarantor hereby agrees, jointly and severally with all existing Guarantors (if any), to
unconditionally guarantee the Issuer’s obligations under the Notes on the terms and subject to the conditions set forth in
Article 10 of the Indenture, and to be bound by all other applicable provisions of the Indenture and the Notes applying to
a Guarantor and to perform all of the obligations and agreements of a Guarantor under the Indenture.
3. Notices. All notices or other communications to the New Guarantor shall be given as provided in Section 12.02 of the
Indenture; provided that copies of notices to the Issuer or a Guarantor need not be provided to Paul, Weiss, Rifkind,
Wharton & Garrison LLP, but shall instead be provided to:
Kirkland & Ellis LLP
601 Lexington Avenue
New York, New York 10022
Attention:
Joshua N. Korff, P.C.
Sophia Hudson, P.C.

4.

5.

6.

7.

8.

Ratification of Indenture; Supplemental Indentures Part of Indenture. Except as expressly amended hereby, the Indenture
is in all respects ratified and confirmed and all the terms, conditions and provisions thereof shall remain in full force and
effect. This Supplemental Indenture shall form a part of the Indenture for all purposes, and every holder of Notes
heretofore or hereafter authenticated and delivered shall be bound hereby.
Governing Law. THIS SUPPLEMENTAL INDENTURE SHALL BE GOVERNED BY, AND CONSTRUED IN
ACCORDANCE WITH, THE LAWS OF THE STATE OF NEW YORK, AND FOR THE AVOIDANCE OF
DOUBT, THE APPLICABILITY OF ARTICLE 86 TO 94-8 OF THE AMENDED LUXEMBOURG LAW ON
COMMERCIAL COMPANIES SHALL BE EXCLUDED.
Trustee Makes No Representation. The Trustee accepts the amendments of the Indenture and the Security Documents
effected by this Supplemental Indenture on the terms and conditions set forth in the Indenture and Security Documents,
including the terms and provisions defining and limiting the liabilities and responsibilities of the Trustee. Without limiting
the generality of the foregoing, the Trustee shall not be responsible in any manner whatsoever for or with respect to any of
the recitals or statements contained herein, all of which recitals or statements are made solely by the Issuer.
Counterparts. The parties may sign any number of copies of this Supplemental Indenture. Each signed copy shall be an
original, but all of them together represent the same agreement. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the exchange of copies of
this Supplemental Indenture and of signature pages by facsimile, PDF or other electronic transmission shall constitute
effective execution and delivery of this Supplemental Indenture as to the parties hereto and may be used in lieu of the
original Supplemental Indenture and signature pages for all purposes.
Effect of Headings. The Section headings herein are for convenience of reference only, are not intended to be considered a
part hereof and shall not modify or restrict any of the terms of provisions hereof.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have caused this Supplemental Indenture to be duly executed as of the
date first above written.
INTELSAT VIRGINIA HOLDINGS LLC
By: INTELSAT SATELLITE LLC, as the
Managing Member
By: /s/ José Toscano
Name: José Toscano
Title: Deputy Chairman
INTELSAT JACKSON HOLDINGS S.A.
By: /s/ José Toscano
Name: José Toscano
Title: Chairman & Chief Executive Officer

WILMINGTON TRUST, NATIONAL
ASSOCIATION, as Trustee
By: /s/ Quinton M. DePompolo
Name: Quinton M. DePompolo
Title: Banking Officer

Exhibit 4.5

SUPPLEMENTAL INDENTURE NO. 7
SUPPLEMENTAL INDENTURE NO. 7 (this “Supplemental Indenture”), dated as of April 24, 2020, by and
among INTELSAT JACKSON HOLDINGS S.A. (or its successor), a société anonyme existing under the laws of Luxembourg
(the “Issuer”), Intelsat Virginia Holdings LLC, a Virginia limited liability company and indirect subsidiary of the Issuer (the
“New Guarantor”), and U.S. BANK NATIONAL ASSOCIATION, a national banking association, as trustee under the Indenture
referred to below (the “Trustee”).
W I T N E S S E T H:
WHEREAS, the Issuer and the existing Guarantors have heretofore executed and delivered to the Trustee an
indenture, dated as of June 5, 2013 (as amended, supplemented or otherwise modified prior to the date hereof, the “Indenture”),
providing for the issuance of the Issuer’s 5.5% Senior Notes due 2023 (the “Notes”), initially in the aggregate principal amount
of $2,000,000,000.00;
WHEREAS, the New Guarantor desires to unconditionally guarantee all the Issuer’s obligations under the Notes
pursuant to a Guarantee on the terms and conditions set forth herein; and
WHEREAS, pursuant to Section 9.01 of the Indenture, the Trustee and the Issuer are authorized to execute one or
more supplemental indentures, including this Supplemental Indenture, to add Guarantors with respect to the Notes.
NOW THEREFORE, in consideration of the foregoing and for other good and valuable consideration, the receipt
of which is hereby acknowledged, the New Guarantor, the Issuer and the Trustee mutually covenant and agree for the equal and
ratable benefit of the Holders of the Notes as follows:
1. Defined Terms. As used in this Supplemental Indenture, terms defined in the Indenture or in the preamble or recital
hereto are used herein as therein defined. The words “herein,” “hereof,” and “hereby” and other words of similar import used in
this Supplemental Indenture refer to this Supplemental Indenture as a whole and not to any particular section hereof.
2. Agreement to Guarantee. The New Guarantor hereby agrees, jointly and severally with all existing Guarantors (if any),
to unconditionally guarantee the Issuer’s obligations under the Notes on the terms and subject to the conditions set forth in
Article 10 of the Indenture as a Guarantor, and to be bound by all other applicable provisions of the Indenture and the Notes as
applying to a Guarantor and to perform all of the obligations and agreements of a Guarantor under the Indenture.
3. Notices. All notices or other communications to the New Guarantor shall be given as provided in Section 11.02 of the
Indenture; provided that copies of notices to the Issuer or a Guarantor need not be provided to Milbank, Tweed, Hadley &
McCloy LLP, but shall instead be provided to:
Kirkland & Ellis LLP
601 Lexington Avenue
New York, New York 10022
Attention:
Joshua N. Korff, P.C.
Sophia Hudson, P.C.

4. Ratification of Indenture; Supplemental Indentures Part of Indenture. Except as expressly amended hereby, the
Indenture is in all respects ratified and confirmed and all the terms, conditions and provisions thereof shall remain in full force
and effect. This Supplemental Indenture shall form a part of the Indenture for all purposes, and every Holder of Notes heretofore
or hereafter authenticated and delivered shall be bound hereby.
5. Governing Law. THIS SUPPLEMENTAL INDENTURE SHALL BE GOVERNED BY, AND CONSTRUED IN
ACCORDANCE WITH, THE LAWS OF THE STATE OF NEW YORK, WITHOUT REGARD TO PRINCIPLES OF
CONFLICTS OF LAW. THE APPLICATION TO THE NOTES OF THE PROVISIONS SET OUT IN ARTICLES 84
TO 94-8 OF THE LUXEMBOURG LAW ON COMMERCIAL COMPANIES DATED AUGUST 10, 1915, AS
AMENDED, IS EXCLUDED.
6. Trustee Makes No Representation. The Trustee makes no representations as to the validity or sufficiency of this
Supplemental Indenture.
7. Counterparts. The parties may sign any number of copies of this Supplemental Indenture. Each signed copy shall be an
original, but all of them together represent the same agreement. One signed copy is enough to prove this Supplemental Indenture.
Notwithstanding the foregoing, the exchange of copies of this Supplemental Indenture and of signature pages by facsimile or
PDF transmission shall constitute effective execution and delivery of this Supplemental Indenture as to the parties hereto and
may be used in lieu of the original Supplemental Indenture and signature pages for all purposes.
8. Effect of Headings. The Section headings of this Supplemental Indenture have been inserted for convenience of
reference only, are not intended to be considered a part hereof and shall not modify or restrict any of the terms or provisions
hereof.
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have caused this Supplemental Indenture to be duly executed as of the
date first written above.
INTELSAT VIRGINIA HOLDINGS LLC
By: INTELSAT SATELLITE LLC, as the
Managing Member
By: /s/ José Toscano
Name: José Toscano
Title: Deputy Chairman
INTELSAT JACKSON HOLDINGS S.A.
By: /s/ José Toscano
Name: José Toscano
Title: Chairman & Chief Executive Officer
U.S. BANK NATIONAL ASSOCIATION,
not in its individual capacity, but solely as Trustee
By: /s/ Richard Prokosch
Name: Richard Prokosch
Title: Vice President
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SUPPLEMENT NO. 4 TO GUARANTEE
SUPPLEMENT NO. 4, dated as of April 24, 2020 (this “Supplement”), to the GUARANTEE, dated as of January 12, 2011 (the “Guarantee”),
among each of the subsidiaries of INTELSAT JACKSON HOLDINGS S.A., a société anonyme existing under the laws of Luxembourg (the “Borrower”),
listed on Annex A to the Guarantee (each such subsidiary individually, a “Guarantor” and, collectively, the “Guarantors”) and BANK OF AMERICA,
N.A., as administrative agent (in such capacity, the “Administrative Agent”).
A. Reference is made to that certain Credit Agreement, dated as of January 12, 2011 (as amended by Amendment and Joinder Agreement, dated as
of October 3, 2012, and as further amended by Amendment No. 2 and Joinder Agreement, dated as of November 27, 2013, and as further amended by
Amendment No. 3 and Joinder Agreement, dated as of November 27, 2017, and as further amended by Amendment No. 4, dated as of December 12, 2017,
and as further amended by Amendment No. 5 and Joinder Agreement, dated as of January 2, 2018, and as further amended by Amendment No. 6, dated as
of November 8, 2018, and as may be further amended, restated, supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time, the “Credit Agreement”), among
INTELSAT CONNECT FINANCE S.A., the Borrower, the lending institutions from time to time parties thereto (the “Lenders”), the Administrative Agent,
BANK OF AMERICA, N.A., CREDIT SUISSE SECURITIES (USA) LLC and J.P. MORGAN SECURITIES LLC, as Joint Lead Arrangers, BANK OF
AMERICA, N.A., CREDIT SUISSE SECURITIES (USA) LLC, J.P. MORGAN SECURITIES LLC, BARCLAYS CAPITAL, the investment banking
division of BARCLAYS BANK PLC, DEUTSCHE BANK SECURITIES INC., MORGAN STANLEY SENIOR FUNDING, INC. and UBS
SECURITIES LLC, as Joint Bookrunners, CREDIT SUISSE SECURITIES (USA) LLC and J.P. MORGAN SECURITIES LLC, as Co-Syndication
Agents, BARCLAYS BANK PLC and MORGAN STANLEY SENIOR FUNDING, INC., as Co-Documentation Agents, HSBC BANK USA, N.A.,
GOLDMAN SACHS PARTNERS LLC and RBC CAPITAL MARKETS, as Co-Managers, BANK OF AMERICA, N.A., as a Letter of Credit Issuer, and
JPMORGAN CHASE BANK, N.A., CITIGROUP GLOBAL MARKETS, INC., MORGAN STANLEY SENIOR FUNDING, INC., MERRILL LYNCH,
PIERCE, FENNER AND SMITH INCORPORATED and GOLDMAN SACHS LENDING PARTNERS, LLC, as Joint Lead Arrangers for Amendment
No. 5.
B. Capitalized terms used herein and not otherwise defined herein shall have the meanings assigned to such terms in the Guarantee.
C. The Guarantors have entered into the Guarantee in order to induce the Administrative Agent, Co-Syndication Agents, Joint Lead Arrangers,
Joint Bookrunners, the Lenders, Co-Documentation Agents, Co-Managers, the Letter of Credit Issuers and Joint Lead Arrangers for Amendment No. 5 to
enter into the Credit Agreement and to induce the Lenders and the Letter of Credit Issuers to make their respective Extensions of Credit to the Borrower
under the Credit Agreement and to induce one or more Lenders or affiliates of Lenders to enter into Hedge Agreements with the Credit Parties. Section
9.11 of the Credit Agreement provides that additional Subsidiaries may become Guarantors under the Guarantee by execution and delivery of an instrument
in the form of this Supplement. The undersigned Intelsat Virginia Holdings LLC (the “New Guarantor”) is executing this Supplement in accordance with
the requirements of the Credit Agreement to become a Guarantor under the Guarantee in order to induce the Lenders and the Letter of Credit Issuers to
make additional Extensions of Credit and as consideration for Extensions of Credit previously made.
Accordingly, the Administrative Agent and the New Guarantor agree as follows:
A. In accordance with Section 18 of the Guarantee, the New Guarantor by its signature below hereby becomes a Guarantor under the Guarantee with
the same force and effect as if originally named therein as a Guarantor and the New Guarantor hereby (a) agrees to all the terms and provisions of
the Guarantee applicable to it as a Guarantor thereunder, and (b) represents and warrants that the representations and warranties made by it as a
Guarantor thereunder are true and correct on and as of the date hereof. Each reference to a Guarantor in the Guarantee shall be deemed to include
the New Guarantor. The Guarantee is hereby incorporated herein by reference.
B. The New Guarantor represents and warrants to the Administrative Agent and the other Guaranteed Parties that this Supplement has been duly
authorized, executed and delivered by it and constitutes its legal, valid and binding obligation, enforceable against it in accordance with its terms,
except as the enforceability thereof may be limited by bankruptcy, insolvency or similar laws affecting creditors’ rights generally and subject to
general principles of equity and subject to mandatory Luxembourg law provisions.
C. This Supplement may be executed by one or more of the parties to this Supplement on any number of separate counterparts (including by
facsimile or other electronic transmission), and all of said counterparts taken together shall be deemed to constitute one and the same instrument.
A set of the copies of this Supplement signed by all the parties shall be lodged with the Borrower and the Administrative Agent. This

D.
E.
F.

G.
H.

Supplement shall become effective as to the New Guarantor when the Administrative Agent shall have received counterparts of this Supplement
that, when taken together, bear the signatures of the New Guarantor and the Administrative Agent.
Except as expressly supplemented hereby, the Guarantee shall remain in full force and effect.
THIS SUPPLEMENT AND THE RIGHTS AND OBLIGATIONS OF THE PARTIES HEREUNDER SHALL BE GOVERNED BY, AND
CONSTRUED AND INTERPRETED IN ACCORDANCE WITH, THE LAW OF THE STATE OF NEW YORK.
Any provision of this Supplement that is prohibited or unenforceable in any jurisdiction shall, as to such jurisdiction, be ineffective to the extent of
such prohibition or unenforceability without invalidating the remaining provisions hereof and in the Guarantee, and any such prohibition or
unenforceability in any jurisdiction shall not invalidate or render unenforceable such provision in any other jurisdiction. The parties hereto shall
endeavor in good-faith negotiations to replace the invalid, illegal or unenforceable provisions with valid provisions the economic effect of which
comes as close as possible to that of the invalid, illegal or unenforceable provisions.
All notices, requests and demands pursuant hereto shall be made in accordance with Section 14.2 of the Credit Agreement. All communications
and notices hereunder to the New Guarantor shall be given to it in care of the Borrower at the Borrower’s address set forth in Section 14.2 of the
Credit Agreement.
The New Guarantor agrees to reimburse the Administrative Agent for its out-of-pocket expenses in connection with this Supplement, including the
fees, disbursements and other charges of counsel for the Administrative Agent.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the New Guarantor and the Administrative Agent have duly executed this Supplement to the Guarantee as of the day
and year first above written.
INTELSAT VIRGINIA HOLDINGS LLC, as
New Guarantor
By: INTELSAT SATELLITE LLC,
as the Managing Member
By: /s/ José Toscano
Name: José Toscano
Title: Deputy Chairman

BANK OF AMERICA, N.A., as Administrative Agent
By: /s/ Steven Gazzillo
Name: Steven Gazzillo
Title: Vice President

Exhibit 10.2

SUPPLEMENT NO. 4 TO SECURITY AND PLEDGE AGREEMENT
SUPPLEMENT, dated as of April 24, 2020 (this “Supplement”), to the Security and Pledge Agreement, dated as of January 12, 2011 (as amended,
restated, supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time, the “Security and Pledge Agreement”; capitalized terms used herein and not otherwise
defined shall have the meanings assigned to such terms therein), among INTELSAT JACKSON HOLDINGS S.A. (the “Company”), each subsidiary of the
Company listed on Annex A thereto (each such subsidiary individually, a “Subsidiary Grantor” and, collectively, the “Subsidiary Grantors”; the Subsidiary
Grantors and the Company are referred to collectively herein as the “Grantors”), BANK OF AMERICA, N.A., as administrative agent (in such capacity,
the “Administrative Agent”) for the Lenders, and WILMINGTON TRUST, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION, as collateral trustee (together with its successors
and assigns, the “Collateral Trustee”) for the benefit of the Secured Parties.
WHEREAS, the Company is party to (i) a Credit Agreement, dated as of January 12, 2011 (as amended by Amendment and Joinder Agreement,
dated as of October 3, 2012, and as further amended by Amendment No. 2 and Joinder Agreement, dated as of November 27, 2013, and as further amended
by Amendment No. 3 and Joinder Agreement, dated as of November 27, 2017, and as further amended by Amendment No. 4, dated as of December 12,
2017, and as further amended by Amendment No. 5 and Joinder Agreement, dated as of January 2, 2018, and as further amended by Amendment No. 6,
dated as of November 8, 2018, and as may be further amended, restated, supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time, the “Credit Agreement”),
among the Company, Intelsat Connect Finance S.A. (“Holdings”), the financial institutions or entities from time to time party thereto as lenders (the
“Lenders”), the Administrative Agent and the other agent parties party thereto and (ii)(a) an Indenture, dated as of March 29, 2016, by and among the
Company, Holdings, the subsidiary guarantors named therein and the Collateral Trustee, as may be amended, restated, supplemented or otherwise modified
from time to time (the “March Indenture”), relating to the Company’s 8.0% Senior Secured Notes due 2024 (the “2024 Notes”), and (b) an Indenture, dated
as of June 30, 2016, by and among the Company, Holdings, the subsidiary guarantors named therein and the Collateral Trustee, as may be amended,
restated, supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time (together with the March Indenture, each, an “Indenture” and, collectively, the
“Indentures”), relating to the Company’s 9.5% Senior Secured Notes due 2022 (together with the 2024 Notes, the “Notes”);
WHEREAS, the Loans and Letters of Credit issued under the Credit Agreement and the Notes are First Lien Debt subject to the terms of the
Collateral Agency and Intercreditor Agreement; and
WHEREAS, Section 9.11 of the Credit Agreement and Section 4.18(a) of each Indenture provide that the Company will cause each direct or
indirect Material Subsidiary (other than any Unrestricted Subsidiary or a Receivables Subsidiary) formed or otherwise purchased or acquired after the Issue
Date of each Indenture or the Closing Date of the Credit Agreement to execute a Supplemental Security Agreement. The undersigned identified as a “New
Grantor” on the signature pages hereto (the “New Grantor”) is executing this Supplement in accordance with the requirements of the Credit Agreement and
the Indentures to become a Subsidiary Grantor under the Security and Pledge Agreement.
NOW THEREFORE, in consideration of the above premises, the Collateral Trustee, the Administrative Agent and the New Grantor agree as
follows:
SECTION 1. In accordance with Section 10.13 of the Security and Pledge Agreement, the New Grantor by its signature below becomes a Grantor under the
Security and Pledge Agreement with the same force and effect as if originally named therein as a Grantor and the New Grantor hereby (a) agrees to all the
terms and provisions of the Security and Pledge Agreement applicable to it as a Grantor thereunder and (b) represents and warrants that the representations
and warranties made by it as a Grantor thereunder are true and correct in all material respects with respect to the New Grantor on and as of the date hereof.
In furtherance of the foregoing, the New Grantor, as security for the payment and performance in full of the Obligations, does hereby bargain, convey,
assign, set over, mortgage, pledge, hypothecate and transfer to the Collateral Trustee, for its benefit and the ratable benefit of the other Secured Parties, and
hereby grants to the Collateral Trustee, for its benefit and the ratable benefit of the other Secured Parties, a security interest in all of the Collateral of the
New Grantor, whether now or hereafter existing or in which now has or hereafter acquires an interest. Each reference to a “Grantor” in the Security and
Pledge Agreement shall be deemed to include the New Grantor. The Security and Pledge Agreement is hereby incorporated herein by reference.
The New Grantor hereby irrevocably authorizes the Collateral Trustee at any time and from time to time to file in any relevant jurisdiction any
initial financing statements with respect to the Collateral or any part thereof and amendments thereto that contain the information required by Article 9 of
the Uniform Commercial Code of each applicable jurisdiction for the filing of any financing statement or amendment, including whether the New Grantor
is an organization, the type of organization and any organizational identification number issued to the New Grantor. Such financing statements may
describe the Collateral in the same manner as described in the Security and Pledge

Agreement or may contain an indication or description of collateral that describes such property in any other manner such as “all assets” or “all personal
property, whether now owned or hereafter acquired” or words of similar effect. The New Grantor agrees to provide such information to Collateral Trustee
promptly upon request.
SECTION 2. The New Grantor represents and warrants to the Collateral Trustee and the other Secured Parties that this Supplement has been duly
authorized, executed and delivered by it and constitutes its legal, valid and binding obligation, enforceable against it in accordance with its terms, except as
the enforceability thereof may be limited by bankruptcy, insolvency or similar laws affecting creditors’ rights generally and subject to general principles of
equity subject to mandatory Luxembourg law provisions.
SECTION 3. This Supplement may be executed by one or more of the parties to this Supplement on any number of separate counterparts (including by
facsimile or other electronic transmission), and all of said counterparts taken together shall be deemed to constitute one and the same instrument. A set of
the copies of this Supplement signed by all the parties shall be lodged with the Collateral Trustee, the Administrative Agent and the Company. This
Supplement shall become effective as to the New Grantor when the Collateral Trustee and the Administrative Agent shall have received counterparts of this
Supplement that, when taken together, bear the signatures of the New Grantor, the Collateral Trustee and the Administrative Agent.
SECTION 4. The New Grantor hereby represents and warrants that, as of the date hereof, (a) Schedule I hereto sets forth (i) the legal name of the New
Grantor, (ii) the jurisdiction of incorporation or organization of the New Grantor, (iii) the true and correct location of the chief executive office and
principal place of business and any office in which it maintains books or records relating to Collateral owned by it, (iv) the identity or type of organization
or corporate structure of the New Grantor and (v) the organizational number of the New Grantor, (b) Schedule II hereto sets forth all of the New Grantor’s
Copyright Licenses, (c) Schedule III hereto sets forth, in proper form for filing with the United States Copyright Office, all of the New Grantor’s
Copyrights (and all applications therefor), (d) Schedule IV hereto sets forth all of the New Grantor’s Patent Licenses, (e) Schedule V hereto sets forth, in
proper form for filing with the United States Patent and Trademark Office, all of the New Grantor’s Patents (and all applications therefor), (f) Schedule VI
hereto sets forth all of the New Grantor’s Trademark Licenses, (g) Schedule VII hereto sets forth, in proper form for filing with the United States Patent
and Trademark Office, all of the New Grantor’s Trademarks (and all applications therefor), (h) Schedule VIII sets forth all Pledged Collateral of the New
Grantor and (i) Schedule IX sets forth all Commercial Tort Claims of the New Grantor.
SECTION 5. Except as expressly supplemented hereby, the Security and Pledge Agreement shall remain in full force and effect.
SECTION 6. THIS SUPPLEMENT AND THE RIGHTS AND OBLIGATIONS OF THE PARTIES HEREUNDER SHALL BE GOVERNED BY,
AND CONSTRUED AND INTERPRETED IN ACCORDANCE WITH, THE LAWS OF THE STATE OF NEW YORK.
SECTION 7. Any provision of this Supplement that is prohibited or unenforceable in any jurisdiction shall, as to such jurisdiction, be ineffective to the
extent of such prohibition or unenforceability without invalidating the remaining provisions hereof and in the Security and Pledge Agreement, and any such
prohibition or unenforceability in any jurisdiction shall not invalidate or render unenforceable such provision in any other jurisdiction. The parties hereto
shall endeavor in good-faith negotiations to replace the invalid, illegal or unenforceable provisions with valid provisions the economic effect of which
comes as close as possible to that of the invalid, illegal or unenforceable provisions.
SECTION 8. All notices, requests and demands pursuant hereto shall be made in accordance with Section 10.2 of the Security and Pledge Agreement. All
communications and notices hereunder to the New Grantor shall be given to it in care of the Company at the Company’s address set forth in Section 10.2 of
the Security and Pledge Agreement.
SECTION 9. The New Grantor agrees to reimburse the Collateral Trustee for its respective reasonable out-of-pocket expenses in connection with this
Supplement, including the reasonable fees, other charges and disbursements of counsel for the Collateral Trustee.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the New Grantor, the Collateral Trustee and the Administrative Agent have duly executed this Supplement to the
Security and Pledge Agreement as of the day and year first above written.
INTELSAT VIRGINIA HOLDINGS LLC, as New Grantor
By: INTELSAT SATELLITE LLC, as the Managing
Member
By: José Toscano
Name: José Toscano
Title: Deputy Chairman

BANK OF AMERICA, N.A., as Administrative Agent
By: /s/ Steven Gazillo
Name: Steven Gazzillo
Title: Vice President
WILMINGTON TRUST, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION,
as Collateral Trustee
By: /s/ Quinton M. DePompolo
Name: Quinton M. DePompolo
Title: Banking Officer

SCHEDULE I
Intelsat Virginia Holdings LLC, a Virginia limited liability company 7900 Tysons One Place, McLean, Virginia 22102

SCHEDULE II
None.

SCHEDULE III
None.

SCHEDULE IV
None.

SCHEDULE V
None.

SCHEDULE VI
None.

SCHEDULE VII
None.

SCHEDULE VIII
PLEDGED SHARES
Type of Shares

Pledgor

Issuer

Intelsat Satellite LLC

Intelsat Virginia Holdings LLC

Common Units

99.99%

Intelsat Holdings LLC

Intelsat Virginia Holdings LLC

Common Units

0.01%

PLEDGED DEBT
None.

SCHEDULE IX
COMMERCIAL TORT CLAIMS
None.

Percentage Owned
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COLLATERAL AGENCY AND INTERCREDITOR JOINDER - ADDITIONAL GRANTORS
April 24, 2020
Reference is made to the Collateral Agency and Intercreditor Agreement, dated as of January 12, 2011 (as amended by that certain Collateral
Agency and Intercreditor Joinder, dated as of March 29, 2016, as further amended by that certain Collateral Agency and Intercreditor Joinder, dated as of
June 29, 2018, as further amended by that certain Collateral Agency and Intercreditor Joinder, dated as of July 2, 2018, and as may be further amended,
supplemented, amended and restated or otherwise modified and in effect from time to time, the “Collateral Agency and Intercreditor Agreement”), by and
among INTELSAT CONNECT FINANCE S.A., a public limited liability company existing as société anonyme under the laws of the Grand Duchy of
Luxembourg, having its registered office at 4, rue Albert Borschette, L-1246 Luxembourg and registered with the Luxembourg trade and companies’
register under number B210.760 (“Holdings”), INTELSAT JACKSON HOLDINGS S.A., a public limited liability company existing as société anonyme
under the laws of the Grand Duchy of Luxembourg, having its registered office at 4, rue Albert Borschette, L-1246 Luxembourg and registered with the
Luxembourg trade and companies’ register under number B149.959 (the “Company”), the other Grantors from time to time party thereto, BANK OF
AMERICA, N.A., as Administrative Agent under the Existing Credit Agreement, the other First Lien Representatives and Second Lien Representatives
from time to time party thereto, and WILMINGTON TRUST, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION, as collateral trustee (in such capacity and together with its
successors in such capacity, the “Collateral Trustee”). Capitalized terms used but not otherwise defined herein have the meanings assigned to them in the
Collateral Agency and Intercreditor Agreement. This Collateral Agency and Intercreditor Joinder is being executed and delivered pursuant to Section 8.18
of the Collateral Agency and Intercreditor Agreement as a condition precedent to the debt for which the undersigned is acting as agent being entitled to the
benefits of being additional secured debt under the Collateral Agency and Intercreditor Agreement.
The undersigned, Intelsat Virginia Holdings LLC, a Virginia limited liability company (the “New Grantor”), hereby agrees to become party as a
Grantor under the Collateral Agency and Intercreditor Agreement for all purposes thereof on the terms set forth therein and to be bound by the terms of the
Collateral Agency and Intercreditor Agreement as fully as if the undersigned had executed and delivered the Collateral Agency and Intercreditor
Agreement as of the date thereof.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the party hereto has caused this Collateral Agency and Intercreditor Joinder to be executed as of the date first written
above.
INTELSAT VIRGINIA HOLDINGS LLC as New Grantor
By: INTELSAT SATELLITE LLC,
as the Managing Member
By: /s/ José Toscano
Name: José Toscano
Title: Deputy Chairman
The Collateral Trustee hereby acknowledges receipt of this Collateral Agency and Intercreditor Joinder and agrees to act as Collateral Trustee with
respect to the Collateral pledged by the New Grantor.
WILMINGTON TRUST, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION,
as Collateral Trustee
By: /s/ Quinton M. DePompolo
Name: Quinton M. DePompolo
Title: Banking Officer

Exhibit 31.1
CERTIFICATION
I, Stephen Spengler, certify that:
1.

I have reviewed this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of Intelsat S.A.;

2.

Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this
report;

3.

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4.

The registrant's other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d15(f)) for the registrant and have:

5.

a.

Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by
others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

b.

Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

c.

Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

d.

Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant's most
recent fiscal quarter (the registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably
likely to materially affect, the registrant's internal control over financial reporting; and

The registrant's other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant's auditors and the audit committee of the registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
a.

All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b.

Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant's internal
control over financial reporting.

Date: June 4, 2020
/s/ Stephen Spengler
Stephen Spengler
Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)

Exhibit 31.2
CERTIFICATION
I, David Tolley, certify that:
1.

I have reviewed this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of Intelsat S.A.;

2.

Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this
report;

3.

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4.

The registrant's other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d15(f)) for the registrant and have:

5.

a.

Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by
others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

b.

Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

c.

Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

d.

Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant's most
recent fiscal quarter (the registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably
likely to materially affect, the registrant's internal control over financial reporting; and

The registrant's other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant's auditors and the audit committee of the registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
a.

All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b.

Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant's internal
control over financial reporting.

Date: June 4, 2020
/s/ David Tolley
David Tolley
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer)

Exhibit 32.1
CERTIFICATION BY CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
Pursuant To 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, As Adopted Pursuant
To Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act Of 2002

In connection with the Quarterly Report of Intelsat S.A. (the “Company”) on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2020, as filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), the undersigned, Stephen Spengler, Chief Executive Officer of the Company, does
hereby certify, pursuant to § 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (18 U.S.C. § 1350), that to his knowledge:
(1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended; and
(2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.
Date: June 4, 2020
/s/ Stephen Spengler
Stephen Spengler
Chief Executive Officer

The foregoing certification is made solely for the purposes of 18 U.S.C. § 1350 and is not being filed as part of the Report or as a separate disclosure
document.

Exhibit 32.2
CERTIFICATION BY CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER
Pursuant To 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, As Adopted Pursuant
To Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act Of 2002

In connection with the Quarterly Report of Intelsat S.A. (the “Company”) on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2020, as filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), the undersigned, David Tolley, Chief Financial Officer of the Company, does
hereby certify, pursuant to § 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (18 U.S.C. § 1350), that to his knowledge:
(1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended; and
(2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.
Date: June 4, 2020
/s/ David Tolley
David Tolley
Chief Financial Officer

The foregoing certification is made solely for the purposes of 18 U.S.C. § 1350 and is not being filed as part of the Report or as a separate disclosure
document.

